National Research Summit on Care, Services, and Supports for Persons Living with Dementia and Their Care Partners/Caregivers

National Institute on Aging National Institutes of Health

> March 20-22, 2023 Virtual Meeting

Revised June 30, 2023



This meeting summary was prepared by Rose Li and Associates, Inc., under contract to the National Institute on Aging (NIA). The views expressed in this document reflect both individual and collective opinions of the meeting participants and not necessarily those of NIA. Contributions to this meeting summary by the following individuals is gratefully acknowledged: Amy Kiefer, Willetha Barnette, Emmanuelle Belanger, Antonia Bennett, Jessica Boten, Leslie Burger, Dana Carluccio, Jie Chen, Nathaniel Chin, Carolyn Clevenger, Linda Collins,

Roberta Cruz, Cerise Elliott, Fayron Epps, Gary Epstein-Lubow, Chanee Fabius, Shekinah Fashaw-Walters, Elena Fazio, Sam Fazio, Bianca Frogner, Heidi Gil, Andrea Gilmore-Bykovskyi, Crystal Glover, David Grabowski, Duke Han, Reda Harrison, Kathi Heffner, Kenneth Hepburn, Ula Hwang, Mireille Jacobson, Lee Jennings, Chandra Keller, Nicole Kidwiler, Ian Kremer, Emily Largent, Eric Larson, Jordan Lewis, Pei-Jung Lin, Jim Mangi, Christina McCrae, Luis Medina, Sheila Molony, Elizabeth Necka, Peter Neumann, Christine Nguyen, Van Ta Park, Katherine Possin, Jennifer Reckrey, Siobhan Reilly, Jason Resendez, David Reuben, Maricruz Rivera-Hernandez, Karen Roberto, Tina Sadarangani, Raj Shah, Joanne Spetz, Jasmine Travers, Nancy Tuvesson, Courtney Van Houtven, and Julie Zissimopoulos.

List of Acronyms

AD Alzheimer's disease

ADRD Alzheimer's disease and Alzheimer's disease-related dementias

AHRQ Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality

CNA certified nursing assistant
EHR electronic health record
ED emergency department

HCBS Home- and community-based services

HIT health information technology

LEP Lived Experience Panel

MA Medicare Advantage

MCI mild cognitive impairment

MOST multiphase optimization strategy

TM traditional Medicare

NASEM National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine

PLWD persons living with dementia
QALY quality-adjusted life year
RCT randomized controlled trial
SDOH social determinants of health
SEP Stakeholder Engagement Panel

Acronym Definitions Page ii

Table of Contents

Executive Summary	1
Summit Report	6
Summit History and Planning Process	6
Setting the Stage	
NIA Dementia Care and Caregiving Research	7
<u>Lived Experience Panel and Stakeholder Engagement Panel</u> Highlights	7
Session 1: What Matters Framework and Living Well with AD/ADRD	8
What Matters to People Living with Dementia Living at Home? Developing Outcomes and the	
Evidence Base When Evaluating interventions	9
Observable Expressions of Positive and Negative Emotion: Affect-Balance	9
Personalized Health Outcome Measurement in Dementia Care and Services Research	9
Moderated Discussion Highlights	9
Session 2: Impact of Detection and Diagnosis on Individuals and Care Partners	10
Risk Prediction of Alzheimer's Disease and Related Dementias in Primary Care Settings	10
Challenges to Equitable Identification of People Living with Dementia for Pragmatic Clinical Tri	als 10
Disparities in Diagnosis and Post-diagnosis Care	
Moderated Discussion Highlights	
Plenary Talk: Challenges and Best Practices for Development and Evaluation of Interventions for	
PLWD and Their Care Partners	
Moderated Discussion Highlights	
Session 3: Dementia Care Models and Coordination of Care	
The NASEM Report: Rationale, Illustrative Findings and Expectations of a Way Forward	
The Vanguard of Comprehensive Dementia Care: Much Done, Much More to Do	
Dementia in the Acute Setting: Expanding and Improving Care	
Moderated Discussion Highlights	
Session 4: Disparities in Health Care Access, Utilization, and Quality	
It's About the Who and the Where: The Role of Person and Place in Access and Quality of Care	
Evidence of Health Information Technology and Reduced Health Disparities in Dementia Care.	
Health Care and Insurance Policies Affecting Care Use and Quality	
Moderated Discussion Highlights	
Session 5: Support for Care Partners and Caregivers	
Informal Dementia Care: Context Matters	
The Sooner the Better: Implementation Considerations When Initiating Intervention Developn	
Formanding Delian Company to the Descriptor Company on Desilian and Well Delian	_
Expanding Policy Supports to Promote Caregiver Resilience and Well-Being	
Moderated Discussion Highlights	
Session 6: Dementia Care Workforce	
Setting the Stage: What We Know (and Don't Know) About the Dementia Care Workforce	
Challenges for the Nursing Home Direct Care Workforce and the Way Forward	
The Direct Care Workforce in Home-Based Dementia Care: Opportunities to Improve Care	
Moderated Discussion HighlightsSession 7: Economic Impacts, Implications, and Approaches	
Financial Decision Making, Cognitive Decline, and Alzheimer's Disease	
Health Care Utilization Before and After a Dementia Diagnosis in Medicare Advantage (MA) an	
Traditional Medicare	
Tradicional Micalcal Commission	+ >

Costs and Cost-Effectiveness in Dementia Care	20
Moderated Discussion Highlights	20
Session 8: Approaches to Participatory Research and Diverse Recruitment and Rete	
Dementia Care Research	21
Unique Identity Challenges for the Recruitment of American Indian/Alaska Native	caregivers into
Dementia Care Research	21
Insights to Engaging and Recruiting Vietnamese Americans in Dementia Caregiving	g Research 21
Community Relationships Are Critical for the Recruitment of African American Fan	nilies in Dementia
Care Research	21
Moderated Discussion Highlights	22
Conclusion	22
Appendix 1: 2023 Summit Research Gaps and Opportunities	23
Appendix 2: Glossary	28
Appendix 3: Summit Agenda	
Appendix 4: References from Summit Presentations	
Setting the Stage	
NIA Dementia Care and Caregiving Research	
Session 1: What Matters Framework and Living Well With AD/ADRD	
What Matters to People Living with Dementia Living at Home? Developing Outcon	
Evidence Base When Evaluating interventions	
Observable Expressions of Positive and Negative Emotion: Affect-Balance	
Personalized Health Outcome Measurement in Dementia Care and Services Resea	
Session 2: Impact of Detection and Diagnosis on Individuals and Care Partners	42
Risk Prediction of Alzheimer's Disease and Related Dementias in Primary Care Sett	tings42
Disparities in Diagnosis and Post-diagnosis Care	43
Plenary Talk: Challenges and Best Practices for Development and Evaluation of Inte	erventions for
PLWD and Their Care Partners	44
Session 3: Dementia Care Models and Coordination of Care	45
The NASEM Report: Rationale, Illustrative Findings and Expectations of a Way For	ward46
The Vanguard of Comprehensive Dementia Care: Much Done, Much More to Do	46
Dementia in the Acute Setting: Expanding and Improving Care	46
It's About the Who and the Where: The Role of Person and Place in Access and Qu	•
Evidence of Health Information Technology and Reduced Health Disparities in Den	
Health Care and Insurance Policies Affecting Care Use and Quality	
Session 5: Support for Care Partners and Caregivers	
Informal Dementia Care: Context Matters	
The Sooner the Better: Implementation Considerations When Initiating Intervention	•
Expanding Policy Supports to Promote Caregiver Resilience and Well-Being	
Session 6: Dementia Care Workforce	
Setting the Stage: What We Know (and Don't Know) About the Dementia Care Wo	
Challenges for the Nursing Home Direct Care Workforce and the Way Forward	
The Direct Care Workforce in Home-Based Dementia Care: Opportunities to Impro	
Session 7: Economic Impacts, Implications, and Approaches	
Financial Decision Making, Cognitive Decline, and Alzheimer's Disease	
Health Care Utilization Before and After a Dementia Diagnosis in Medicare Advant	• ,
Traditional Medicare	

Table of Contents Page iv

National Summit on Dementia Care and Caregiving Research

Costs and Cost-Effectiveness in Dementia Care	61
Session 8: Approaches to Participatory Research and Diverse Recruitment and Retention in	
Dementia Care Research	62
Unique Identity Challenges for the Recruitment of American Indian/Alaska Native caregivers i	into
Dementia Care Research	62
Insights to Engaging and Recruiting Vietnamese Americans in Dementia Caregiving Research.	62
Community Relationships Are Critical for the Recruitment of African American Families in Der	mentia
Care Research	63

Table of Contents Page v

Executive Summary

The <u>2023 National Research Summit on Care, Services, and Supports for Persons Living with Dementia (PLWD) and Their Care Partners/Caregivers</u> ("the Summit") convened for three virtual sessions on March 20-22, 2023, to review scientific progress, highlight innovative and promising approaches, and identify unmet research needs. The Summit was designed to build on progress since the first <u>National Research Summit on Care, Services, and Supports for Persons with Dementia and Their Caregivers</u> in October 2017 and the second <u>care-focused Summit</u> in summer 2020.

The Summit considered input from the research community, persons living with cognitive symptoms (including mild cognitive impairment or diagnosed dementia; PLWD), their care partners/caregivers, persons who provide health care or services and supports to PLWD, and other stakeholders. On behalf of NIA, Rose Li and Associates, Inc. convened a Lived Experience Panel consisting of 9 PLWD and current and former caregivers and a Stakeholder Engagement Panel consisting of 11 patient advocates, direct care workers, long-term services and supports workers, researchers, and health service providers (some of whom also have personal experience as care partners). These panels each met for two 90-minute virtual feedback sessions. By engaging individuals with multiple perspectives, the Summit helped to identify scientific gaps and opportunities for Alzheimer's disease and Alzheimer's disease related dementias (AD/ADRD) research that hold promise to meaningfully impact the lives of PLWD and their care partners.

With input from research presenters, panelists, PLWD and care partners, and other stakeholders, members of the Summit Steering Committee identified research gaps and opportunities in the eight areas of dementia care and caregiving research that correspond to the Summit scientific sessions. These gaps and opportunities can inform updates to the NIH
AD+ADRD Research Implementation Milestones, which guide progress toward the National Plan to Address Alzheimer's Disease.

We know that words matter to individuals and communities. The terms included in this report reflect language used by presenters and discussants during the 2023 Summit. Nomenclature and terms used in research are evolving and will be considered in future Summit planning.

Session One: What Matters Framework and Living Well with AD/ADRD Co-Chairs Drs. Antonia V. Bennett and Basil Eldadah

Session One focused on the outcomes that matter most to PLWD. Dr. Siobhan Reilly summarized research that identified 13 core outcomes. Next, Dr. Sheila L. Molony reviewed assessments of PLWD's well-being through measures of affect balance and at-homeness. In the third presentation, Dr. Lee A. Jennings described the use of goal attainment scaling in research and clinical settings as an individualized measure of core outcomes. Panelists Dr. Emmanuelle Belanger, Dr. Sam Fazio, and Dr. Jim Mangi provided brief remarks and then joined the session

Executive Summary Page 1

_

¹ Video recordings of the Summit proceedings are publicly available at https://www.nia.nih.gov/2023-dementia-care-summit#recordings.

co-chairs and presenters for the Q&A and discussion, which covered the need for brief, easy-to-administer, validated measures of core outcomes that can be used across disease stages.

Session Two: Impact of Detection and Diagnosis on Individuals and Care Partners Co-Chairs Drs. Luis D. Medina and Luke Stoeckel

Session Two focused on the need for early and equitable detection and diagnosis. Dr. Raj C. Shah reviewed risk-based approaches and algorithms for identifying individuals with cognitive symptoms. Next, Dr. Ellen McCreedy described potential methods to identify undiagnosed individuals for enrollment in pragmatic trials. In the third presentation, Dr. Emmanuel Fulgence Drabo discussed racial and ethnic disparities in diagnosis and post-diagnosis care. Panelists Dr. Nathaniel Chin, Dr. Emily Largent, and Deborah Jobe discussed the importance of expanding screening and early diagnosis and of identifying caregivers in clinical records.

Session Three: Dementia Care Models and Coordination of Care Co-Chairs Drs. Katherine Possin and Marcel Salive

Session Three focused on comprehensive dementia care models. First, Dr. Eric B. Larson described a <u>National Academies report</u> on meeting the challenges of caring for PLWD and supporting their care partners and caregivers informed by a systematic review of the evidence on existing dementia care interventions. Next, Dr. David B. Reuben summarized research on implementing and adapting comprehensive dementia care models to a wide range of settings and populations. In the third presentation, Dr. Ula Hwang highlighted the potential for partnering with emergency departments on early detection and care referrals. Panelists Dr. Shari M. Ling, Dr. Carolyn Clevenger, and Roberta Cruz discussed the need to assess the broad impacts of dementia care models on PLWD, their caregivers, and families.

Session Four: Disparities in Health Care Access, Utilization, and Quality Co-Chairs Drs. Chanee Fabius and Emerald T. Nguyen

Session Four focused on racial, ethnic, and geographic disparities in health care access, utilization, and quality. Dr. Shekinah Fashaw-Walters discussed place-based disparities in dementia care. Next, Dr. Jie Chen highlighted the potential for health information technology to reduce health disparities and improve care quality while reducing costs. In the third presentation, Dr. Norma B. Coe described how the transition to Medicare Advantage and other insurance and policy changes are affecting dementia care. Panelists Dr. Emmanuel Fulgence Drabo, Dr. Maricruz Rivera-Hernandez, and Dr. Tina Sadarangani discussed the need to address geographic and other disparities and improve care integration across settings.

Session Five: Support for Care Partners and Caregivers Co-Chairs Drs. Kenneth W. Hepburn and Liz Necka

Session Five focused on the need for research on policies and interventions to support caregivers. Dr. Karen A. Roberto described the characteristics and unique challenges of rural caregivers. Next, Dr. Joseph E. Gaugler discussed the importance of determining interventions' mechanisms of action for subsequent implementation and adaptation. In the third presentation, Dr. Courtney Van Houtven reviewed research opportunities for assessing the impact of policies intended to support caregivers. Panelists Rita Choula, Jason Resendez, and

Cassandra Thomas discussed the need for culturally sensitive research communications and protocols and for additional research on PLWD who may not have a primary caregiver.

Session Six: Dementia Care Workforce Co-Chairs Drs. Joanne Spetz and Elena Fazio

Session Six focused on the need for additional data on the care workforce and interventions to support their recruitment and retention. First, Dr. Bianca K. Frogner described the care workforce, its size, roles, and characteristics. Dr. Jasmine L. Travers then discussed interventions and strategies to improve the wages and working conditions of certified nursing assistants. In the third presentation, Dr. Jennifer Reckrey highlighted the need for additional data on the home-based care workforce, care quality, and outcomes. Panelists Dr. David C. Grabowski and Melissa Myers-Bristol discussed the need for research on interventions and policies that aim to recruit and retain the direct care workforce.

Session Seven: Economic Impacts, Implications, and Approaches Co-Chairs Drs. Pei-Jung Lin and Priscilla Novak

Session Seven focused on the economic impact of dementia on individuals, caregivers, families, and health care systems. Dr. Duke Han reviewed the potential impacts of aging and of dementia on financial decision making. Next, Dr. Mireille Jacobson described the financial incentives in and care impacts of Medicare Advantage versus traditional Medicare. In the third presentation, Dr. Peter J. Neumann discussed the cost-effectiveness of dementia interventions and treatments, including the new monoclonal antibodies that target amyloid. Panelists Dr. Darius Lakdawalla, Dr. Helen Lamont, and Dr. Rachel Werner discussed the need for better data infrastructure to determine the costs and benefits of dementia care interventions and policies.

Session Eight: Approaches to Participatory Research and Diverse Recruitment and Retention in Dementia Care Research

Co-Chairs Drs. Crystal M. Glover and Cerise Elliott

Session Eight focused on strategies for engaging with diverse PLWD and their caregivers throughout the research process. Dr. Jordan P. Lewis discussed developing culturally responsive interventions for Indigenous caregivers. Dr. Van Ta Park summarized research on culturally tailored, multilingual educational interventions for Vietnamese and Korean Americans. In the final presentation, Dr. Fayron Epps reviewed approaches to improve research participation among African Americans. Panelists Dr. Christine Nguyen, Robert Reid, and Martha Williams focused on the importance of building trust and developing culturally and linguistically appropriate study materials and protocols.

Plenary Talk: Challenges and Best Practices for Development and Evaluation of Interventions for PLWD and Their Care Partners

Plenary Speaker Dr. Linda M. Collins

The recent Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ) <u>systematic review</u> and the <u>National Academies of Sciences</u>, <u>Engineering</u>, <u>and Medicine care interventions report</u> find that most behavioral interventions for PLWD and/or their caregivers lack evidence regarding their mechanisms, which hinders their widespread adoption. Dr. Linda Collins described how alternative intervention trial methodologies consistent with the <u>NIH Stage Model</u> can help to build a coherent knowledge base and facilitate the implementation and adaptation of interventions with high public health impact.

Summit Cross-Cutting Themes

Three cross-cutting themes were emphasized across Summit sessions: (1) inclusive science and health equity, (2) the What Matters Framework, and (3) the rigor and reproducibility of dementia care research.

Inclusive Science and Health Equity

Summit presenters and panelists discussed the importance of pursuing patient-centered research and outcomes; engaging meaningfully with participant communities to build trust and to ensure respectful, culturally sensitive research communications and protocols; and incorporating the perspectives of PLWD, their care partners and caregivers, and other key stakeholders throughout the research process, from study design to dissemination of results. Presenters and panelists also discussed the growing diversity of the population living with dementia and their caregivers and emphasized that diverse and intersecting identities, backgrounds, cultures, family structures, and locations affect access to care, services and supports, and health outcomes. Research approaches and care interventions should aim to meet people where they are to address these diverse needs, perspectives, and challenges.

The What Matters Framework

Summit presenters and panelists described the disconnect between existing patient-reported outcome measures and the outcomes that PLWD report are their priorities. Presenters described existing person-specific measures and their potential adaptation for use across disease stages and settings, and the need for additional sensitive, valid measures of the outcomes that matter most to PLWD and their caregivers for both research and clinical purposes.

The Rigor and Reproducibility of Dementia Care Research

Across sessions, presenters and panelists described the need for implementation and adaptation of evidence-based interventions that benefit PLWD and their caregivers. To facilitate implementation, researchers should anticipate and consider feasibility when designing and testing interventions. Conducting intervention research in line with the NIH Stage Model and using trial methodologies that allow researchers to optimize key components of an intervention can help not only improve the dissemination of those interventions, but also help build a body of evidence regarding effective intervention components. Researchers should attempt to

gather input from key stakeholders, consider implementation when designing interventions, to engineer interventions that meet specific cost, time, staffing, and other key requirements.

Summit Report

Summit History and Planning Process

The 2023 National Research Summit on Care, Services, and Supports for Persons Living with Dementia (PLWD) and Their Care Partners/Caregivers, hosted by the National Institute on Aging (NIA), was convened to identify gaps and opportunities to inform dementia-related research priorities of federal agencies, foundations, and private-sector organizations.

To assist in the Summit planning process, NIA and the 2023 Summit Steering Committee members reviewed the National Plan to Address Alzheimer's Disease, the relevant NIA AD/ADRD Research Implementation Milestones, and the 2020 Dementia Care and Caregiving Summit Gaps and Opportunities. They also sought input from individuals with diverse backgrounds and experiences, including academic researchers, public policy experts, direct care workers, health care and social service providers, PLWD, and their caregivers. These efforts included the following:

- Publishing a <u>Request for Information</u> to seek input from the public representing various interested communities, including PLWD and their care partners, researchers, health care providers, and advocacy organizations.
- Convening a Steering Committee of 20 academic researchers and NIA scientific program staff members with relevant expertise, led by Dr. Andrea Gilmore-Bykovskyi (University of Wisconsin-Madison) and Dr. Julie Zissimopoulos (University of Southern California).
- Convening a <u>Lived Experience Panel</u> composed of four PLWD and five care partners/caregivers of PLWD from across the country.
- Convening a <u>Stakeholder Engagement Panel</u> that solicited feedback from 11 dementia care and caregiving stakeholders, including direct care workers, health care and social service providers, and patient advocates.
- Providing opportunities for audience engagement during the Summit sessions through submission of questions and comments.
- Holding a 1-hour post-Summit Listening Session for audience members with the NIA Summit planning committee and Steering Committee co-chairs.

Session co-chairs worked with the research presenters and panelists to draft three research gaps and opportunities based on their session's research priorities. On March 29, 2023, the Steering Committee met to revise the draft gaps and opportunities based on input received during the Summit and the Summit Listening Session (see Appendix 1).

We know that words matter to individuals and communities. The terms included in this report reflect language used by presenters and discussants during the 2023 Summit. Nomenclature and terms used in research are evolving and will be considered in future Summit planning.

Setting the Stage

To set the stage on each Summit day, Lived Experience Panel (LEP) and Stakeholder Engagement Panel (SEP) members gave brief remarks about their experiences. On Day 1, Dr.

Amy Kelley provided a brief welcome message, and Dr. Elena Fazio highlighted NIA-supported dementia care and caregiving initiatives and research.

NIA Dementia Care and Caregiving Research

Elena Fazio, PhD

NIA is committed to advancing rigorous dementia care intervention research that is consistent with the NIH Stage Model, supporting the development and use of data infrastructure, and examining the impact of social determinants of health (SDOH)—including features of the health care landscape—on dementia care outcomes and the wellbeing of PLWD and their care partners. Aligned with the NIH AD/ADRD Research Implementation Milestones, the NIA Division of Behavioral and Social Research manages a large portfolio of dementia care and caregiving research, including intervention studies and studies of caregiver wellbeing, societal and economic costs of care, and disparities in care access, use, and quality. As part of these efforts, NIA made a flagship investment in the IMPACT Collaboratory, whose mission is to build the nation's capacity to conduct pragmatic clinical trials within health care systems for PLWD and their care partners. NIA is also continuing investments in AD/ADRD-focused Roybal Translational Research Centers, which fund pilot studies in accordance with the NIH Stage Model and AD/ADRD-focused Demography and Economics Centers and data resources such as the National Health and Aging Trends Study (NHATS) and the National Study of Caregivers (NSOC).

Lived Experience Panel and Stakeholder Engagement Panel Highlights

Dave Arnold; Willetha Barnette; Leslie Burger, MD; Roberta Cruz; Gary Epstein-Lubow, MD; Heidi Gil; Reda Harrison; Ian Kremer, JD; Monica Moreno; and Petra Niles, MSG

Panel members living with dementia emphasized their desire to remain independent, socially engaged, and to live as well as possible despite their cognitive symptoms. Mr. Arnold described his sorrow at his diagnosis, and his commitment to maintaining his independence and remaining at home and living well for as long as he can. Ms. Harrison, who was diagnosed with mild cognitive impairment (MCI) at age 58, emphasized the need to combat the stigma associated with dementia. She has been open with family, friends, and church members regarding her diagnosis, and although she lost some friends who were uncomfortable being with her, she gained new friends who are also dealing with cognitive symptoms. She started to learn to play piano at 63. She gardens, is learning Spanish, and enjoys quilting and beadwork. She refuses to feel sorry for herself and does not want pity. She has become resilient.

Caregivers emphasized the need for additional supports, particularly those that reduce isolation, financial strain, and stress. Dr. Burger explained that he retired early to care for his wife, who passed away from Alzheimer's disease (AD) in 2021. They thrived during the disease's early stages, managing with technology and reminders, but as the disease progressed, he felt increasingly helpless, limited to providing comfort but unable to maintain her diet and hygiene or handle her paranoia. He emphasized that people need to know where to seek help and support, especially financial support. Ms. Barnette described the tremendous financial costs she bore caring for her mother for more than 20 years, which led her to deplete her retirement

savings and to neglect her own health. She emphasized that dementia could affect anyone; "dementia is no respecter of age, ZIP code, or socioeconomic status." Ms. Cruz emphasized the importance of care partners remaining socially engaged, having breaks from caregiving, and recognizing that what constitutes "good caregiving" varies from family to family.

Ms. Moreno described the LEP recruitment strategy and her and Dr. Epstein-Lubow's approach to facilitating the feedback sessions. Dr. Epstein-Lubow then summarized broad themes from the LEP, noting that members described the need for more accessible supports, particularly home-based and financial supports, and expressed concerns regarding disease progression, planning for the future, and family burden. They reported a range of screening and diagnosis experiences and a lack of adequate guidance, referrals, and post-diagnosis support. Several panel members described positive research experiences, although their ability to participate was constrained by travel requirements and costs.

Ms. Gil and Mr. Kremer reviewed additional cross-cutting themes from the LEP and SEP, which included the need for research on reducing stigma across the disease course; helping people navigate care systems and plan for later stages of disease; adapting collaborative care models to a wider range of populations and settings; addressing tensions between maintaining independence, engagement, and safety; and ensuring detection and diagnosis are equitable, timely, accurate, compassionate, and actionable. SEP panelists highlighted the need for care navigation programs that extend beyond the dominant medical care model and include wellbeing and healthy lifestyles such as stress management, sleep, nutrition, physical fitness, social connection, and finding meaning and purpose. With the increasing reliance on electronic health record (EHR) data, research must also determine sources and frequencies of errors and omissions in order to improve health outcomes (particularly in care transitions), reduce care partner burden, and improve accuracy of aggregated data that will be used for subsequent research. Person-centered research is paramount: PLWD and their caregivers must be involved in all phases of the research process and help set research priorities. Ms. Niles noted that researchers can gain valuable information by connecting with community service providers who are aware of the gaps and barriers to care within their communities, and who can provide feedback on culturally tailored research and appropriate nomenclature. The full LEP and SEP reports are available online.

Session 1: What Matters Framework and Living Well with AD/ADRD

Co-Chairs: Antonia V. Bennett, PhD, University of North Carolina, and Basil Eldadah, MD, PhD, NIA

This session considered outcomes that matter most to PLWD and their care partners. Presenters discussed the need for measurement tools that align with patient-centered goals measures that are designed/appropriate for the study population (reflective of their language, culture, priorities, and values) and responsive to change (able to capture the effect of an intervention).

What Matters to People Living with Dementia Living at Home? Developing Outcomes and the Evidence Base When Evaluating interventions

Siobhan Reilly, PhD, University of Bradford

To determine what matters most to PLWD, Dr. Reilly and her research team conducted a two-phase mixed methods study that identified 13 core outcomes: positive social relationships; ability to communicate; feeling safe and secure at home; feeling valued and respected by others; being able to have a laugh with other people; being able to engage in activities you enjoy; keeping interested in things you like; being aware of your surroundings; finding your way around a familiar place; being as clean and as comfortable as you would like; not falling; being able to see, hear, and understand; and feeling able to maintain your identity. A review of 76 existing outcome measures revealed a disconnect between those measures and the core outcomes. Researchers must work with PLWD to develop and test new measures that assess outcomes that matter.

Observable Expressions of Positive and Negative Emotion: Affect-Balance Sheila L. Molony, PhD, RN, Quinnipiac University

Models of well-being and life satisfaction among PLWD emphasize positive emotions. Affect balance is the ratio of observable positive to negative emotions and is associated with greater wellbeing. Researchers should determine correlates of affect balance for PLWD in community settings and whether targeted interventions improve affect balance. Future studies may use technologies to capture facial, postural, or behavioral expression of emotion; employ ecological momentary assessment and within-individual time series analyses; and conduct longitudinal mixed-methods studies that combine self-report, caregiver, and observational measures. To address language challenges, measures can be modified with yes/no options or pictures.

Personalized Health Outcome Measurement in Dementia Care and Services Research Lee Jennings, MD, MSHS, University of Oklahoma Health Sciences Center

One measure of person-centered outcomes is goal attainment scaling. For this measure, the goal and outcome are individualized but measurement is standardized. Compared to patient reported outcome measures (PROMs), goal attainment scaling is sensitive to small changes and allows goal revision over time but requires more intensive training to administer. Three ongoing pragmatic trials of dementia care are using goal attainment scaling as a primary or secondary outcome. Next steps include training toolkits that translate these measures into clinical practice, with attention to the complexities of triadic communication among providers, PLWD, and care partners.

Moderated Discussion Highlights

Panelists: Emmanuelle Belanger, PhD, Brown University, Sam Fazio, PhD, Alzheimer's Association®, and Jim Mangi, PhD, Lived Experience Panel Member

Tailoring Measures of "What Matters Most" to Disease Stage and Other Factors

Core outcome measures need to be brief, easy to administer, and applicable across disease subtypes, stages, and trajectories. Progress in this area is evidenced by measures available in

the <u>Minimum Data Set</u>, the <u>IMPACT Collaboratory</u>, and the <u>Long-Term Care Data Cooperative</u>, and the <u>LINC-AD</u> effort to develop an online repository of person-centered measures. However, more national data and mixed methods research are needed to ensure that the voices of PLWD and their care partners are reflected in outcome measures.

Researchers face great challenges obtaining valid proxy-rated measures from caregivers once self-report becomes infeasible for PLWD. Affect balance may be a useful indicator of wellbeing throughout the disease course. To use goal attainment scaling at later disease stages, caregivers may need to help identify goals; therefore, research on goal concordance between caregivers and PLWD is needed.

Respect Is a Core Outcome for PLWD

A core outcome highlighted by Dr. Reilly's research and Mangi's remarks is being treated with respect. Mangi's wife, who is living with advanced dementia, wants to be recognized as a person—not as a patient, victim, gemstone, or a "used-to-be."

Session 2: Impact of Detection and Diagnosis on Individuals and Care Partners

Co-Chairs: Luis D. Medina, PhD, University of Houston, and Luke Stoeckel, PhD, NIA

This session addressed approaches to early and equitable detection of dementia as an entry point into dementia care and considered the social, economic, and institutional barriers to and facilitators of detection and diagnosis within care settings, including in primary care and in the Medicare annual wellness visit; the high prevalence of underdiagnosis; and benefits and disparities in early diagnosis and resulting disparities in care, services received, and survival.

Risk Prediction of Alzheimer's Disease and Related Dementias in Primary Care Settings Raj C. Shah, MD, Rush University

Screening all individuals aged 65 and older for AD/ADRD yearly is costly and potentially ineffective, but risk-based screening is a promising alternative. Currently, only a few valid latelife risk assessments tools are in the public domain and suitable for clinical use, and none have adequate sensitivity and specificity. Researchers have also used different approaches to validating tools, which limits their comparability. As new risk assessment tools are developed, researchers should consider incorporating biofluid biomarkers into these assessments. Researchers should also conduct clinical trials to ensure that risk assessment algorithms are fair, equitable, and appropriate for diverse patient populations.

Challenges to Equitable Identification of People Living with Dementia for Pragmatic Clinical Trials

Ellen McCreedy, PhD, Brown University

Pragmatic real-world trials aim to enroll people who represent the population of PLWD. However, formal diagnoses or claims data in EHR fail to identify many PLWD, particularly individuals of minoritized populations and those living in geographically underserved areas. Researchers have developed EHR-based algorithms to identify likely PLWD, but these

algorithms are often developed in academic medical centers and may not apply to community-based or underserved populations. Key next steps include further validation of algorithms in usual care populations, expanding the use of unstructured data in clinical records, democratizing the use of algorithms and access to rapid validation tools, monitoring ethical issues arising from algorithmic identification, and improving identification of PLWD who lack access to care.

Disparities in Diagnosis and Post-diagnosis Care

Emmanuel Fulgence Drabo, PhD, Johns Hopkins University

Benefits of early dementia diagnosis include early and optimal disease management, access to support and services, enrollment in clinical trials, and facilitating planning for later care. However, there are large racial disparities in diagnosis: Black and Hispanic individuals are more likely than White individuals to have missed or delayed diagnoses, less likely to receive treatments or specialty care, and more likely to receive emergency department (ED) and inpatient care, resulting in higher health care costs. Additional research is needed on the root causes of these disparities. Future efforts should promote equitable brain health, increase diversity in study populations, and build a more robust and diverse workforce for the diverse older adult population.

Moderated Discussion Highlights

Panelists: Nathaniel Chin, MD, University of Wisconsin, Deborah Jobe, Lived Experience Panel Member, and Emily Largent, JD, PhD, RN, University of Pennsylvania

The Role of Community Support and Care Partners in Post-Diagnosis Care

Following diagnosis, Ms. Jobe was referred by her provider to cognitive, speech, physical, and occupational therapy, and counseling, and to the Alzheimer's Association®, which connected her with support groups and local elder care resources. She knows her experience is atypical and hopes more people will receive timely diagnoses, appropriate referrals, and follow-up care. Intervention research concerning early diagnosis must consider the impact on care partners as well as on PLWD. Research is needed on the effects of early diagnosis on care partners, given preliminary evidence that it does not dispel the stigma associated with dementia. Care partners participate in myriad decisions beyond advanced care planning—a decision-making process that merits study. To facilitate research and improve care, care partners should be identified in clinical records. Additional work is also needed on how to support older adults who do not have care partners or family caregivers, or who have distributed care networks with care provided by multiple persons.

Expanding Equitable Screening and Diagnosis

In 2020, the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force found insufficient evidence for recommending cognitive screening in asymptomatic older adults. A lack of routine screening amplifies the potential for bias and stigma to contribute to missed and delayed diagnoses, particularly among people of color. Screening tools could help address diagnostic challenges, provided they are validated in diverse populations and implemented in a standardized way. Community health workers, first responders, and emergency medical technicians, and Meals on Wheels volunteers

could also screen for MCI and dementia symptoms and provide health care referrals and education to counter stigma.

Plenary Talk: Challenges and Best Practices for Development and Evaluation of Interventions for PLWD and Their Care Partners

Linda Collins, PhD, New York University

Three objectives of dementia care and caregiving intervention development are to build a coherent knowledge base about what interventions work for whom under what conditions and why; use the knowledge base to develop and disseminate interventions that have high public health impact; and to be able to make improvements to the interventions over time. These objectives are not easily reached with the classical approach to intervention development, in which researchers pilot test individual components of an intervention and then test them in an evaluation randomized controlled trial (ERCT) as a single package. Many multi-component interventions developed this way are impractical—too expensive, complex, or burdensome. Researchers cannot streamline interventions without potentially rendering them ineffective, and even if an intervention works, it is not clear why it worked. Researchers instead should develop interventions that balance effectiveness with affordability and practicality. Multiphase optimization strategy (MOST) is an alternative framework for intervention development that can achieve the desired objectives. With MOST, researchers first identify a set of candidate intervention components, then optimize their intervention based on results obtained with optimization RCTs (e.g., factorial experiment, fractional factorial experiment, SMART, microrandomized trial, system identification). Once they determine the optimal intervention, they test its effectiveness with an ERCT. This approach enables researchers to engineer interventions that meet specific objectives, such as adhering to a specific per person cost. Resources and training are available for those who want more information about MOST (i.e., Collins, 2018 and https://cadio.org/).

Moderated Discussion Highlights

Moderator: Lisa Onken, PhD, NIA; Panelists: Kathi Heffner, PhD, University of Rochester, Brent Mausbach, PhD, University of California, San Diego, and Christina S. McCrae, PhD, University of Florida

Implementation Science Approaches for Multi-Component Interventions

A common objection to optimization trials is that the intervention components are believed to be synergistic and work only in combination. However, whether individual components deliver benefits in isolation or in lower order combinations can be tested with a factorial design. Understanding of interventions' mechanisms of benefit and the needs of stakeholders who will fund and implement the intervention is critical for widespread implementation and adaptation. Moreover, even if only the highest order interaction showed significant benefits, MOST could be used to develop additional needs-driven, or "wrap around," interventions that improve engagement or adherence to an existing intervention. It could also be used to reduce costs or time required for participation, and to facilitate adaptation to new settings and populations.

Session 3: Dementia Care Models and Coordination of Care

Co-Chairs: Katherine L. Possin, PhD, UCSF, and Marcel Salive, MD, MPH, NIA

Dementia care models and coordination of care are complex and involve a multilevel framework that includes individual and family, community, policy, and societal levels. Care is provided and received in a variety of health and community-based settings with varying levels and types of resources at differing stages of disease, including end-of-life. This session explored community- and health system-based dementia care models as well as the inherent challenges in developing and disseminating evidence-based models of integrated care in real-world settings to meet the diverse needs of PLWD.

The NASEM Report: Rationale, Illustrative Findings and Expectations of a Way Forward Eric B. Larson, MD, MPH, University of Washington

An Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality systematic review and subsequent consensus report found that most care interventions lacked sufficient evidence of benefit. Absence of evidence (or sufficient evidence) does not mean absence of benefit. Generating high strength evidence for dementia care interventions is challenging due to the complexity of dementia care interventions, the diversity of populations affected, and the importance of contextual effects. Two intervention types were supported by low-strength evidence: collaborative care models and discrete adaptations of REACH II, a multicomponent intervention for care partners and caregivers. Various collaborative care interventions share multiple components, such as coordination of services, development of care plans, case tracking, and provider collaboration. Next steps include implementing and evaluating these intervention types in a variety of real-world settings and with diverse groups.

The Vanguard of Comprehensive Dementia Care: Much Done, Much More to Do David B. Reuben, MD, University of California, Los Angeles

Comprehensive dementia care models have several core components: continuous monitoring and assessment, ongoing care plans, psychosocial interventions for PLWD and caregivers, self-management, medication management, treatment of related conditions, and coordination of care. To date, six models have been implemented, several of which are more intensive and may be more appropriate for PLWD with greater care needs. Payment models for Medicare beneficiaries should cover comprehensive dementia care and address both beneficiary and caregiver needs; be widely available, including in rural and underserved communities; and be capitated based on symptom severity and available resources. Research is needed on model effectiveness and dissemination, addressing needs of diverse populations in various regions and settings, and payment models.

Dementia in the Acute Setting: Expanding and Improving Care *Ula Hwang, MD, MPH, Yale University*

The ED is a common site of care for older adults and PLWD, and ED visits spike in the months prior to a dementia diagnosis. The ED could be a key partner in recognizing dementia early and

providing appropriate referrals, which would also help to reduce strain on the health care system. However, the ED does not routinely screen patients for cognitive impairment. To improve ED care for PLWD, the Geriatric Emergency care Applied Research (GEAR) initiative aims to advance science in four key areas: care transitions, communication and shared decision making, detection, and ED practices.

Moderated Discussion Highlights

Panelists: Carolyn Clevenger, DNP, RN, Emory University, Roberta Cruz, Lived Experience Panel Member, and Shari Ling, MD, Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services

Impacts of Delayed Diagnosis

The primary care provider for Ms. Cruz's mother initially dismissed her mother's cognitive symptoms as merely the result of aging. This dismissal posed logistical challenges to her care, as Ms. Cruz needed her mother diagnosed before moving her across state lines. However, Ms. Cruz emphasized the value and knowledge she gained from building relationships with several local providers who cared for her mother.

Assessing Care Models' Effects on What Matters Most

The effort to move from a volume-based health care system to a value-based one presents the opportunity to focus on what matters most to PLWD and their caregivers. Researchers should assess care holistically, by evaluating its impact on clinical outcomes and wellbeing and quality of life. Dr. Clevenger directs an integrated memory care center that provides comprehensive dementia care following diagnosis including full-scope primary care, cognitive assessment and staging, treatment of minor acute illnesses, along with cognitive engagement, family counseling and psychotherapy, caregiver support groups, and advanced care planning. She shared that its care model is financially sustainable and may reduce hospitalizations.

Session 4: Disparities in Health Care Access, Utilization, and Quality

Co-Chairs: Chanee Fabius, PhD, and Emerald T. Nguyen, PhD

This session considered the policies; health care structures and practices; and neighborhood, social, and economic factors that impact health equity in care access, use, care transitions and quality of care.

It's About the Who and the Where: The Role of Person and Place in Access and Quality of Care

Shekinah Fashaw-Walters, PhD, University of Minnesota

Although Black and Hispanic Americans are 1.5 to 2 times more likely to have dementia than White Americans, they are less likely to receive a dementia diagnosis, and more likely to be diagnosed at later disease stages. Disparities also affect dementia care. Compared to White Americans, Black Americans living with dementia have higher rates of hospitalization and feeding tube insertion at the end of life, and these rates correlate with area-based social deprivation. Addressing SDOH can reduce such place-based disparities. Additional work is

needed to understand how place influences care and interacts with policies at the local, state, and federal levels.

Evidence of Health Information Technology and Reduced Health Disparities in Dementia Care *Jie Chen, PhD, University of Maryland*

The use of health information technologies (HIT) by PLWD and caregivers has risen dramatically since 2019. However, older individuals—particularly those from minoritized populations, those with cognitive challenges, and those living in rural areas—may lack access to HIT or have difficulty using HIT. Evidence suggests that HIT can reduce costs, readmissions, and preventable hospitalizations while mitigating racial and ethnic disparities and urban and rural disparities in health care quality and cost. It is critical to conduct further research to understand how to leverage HIT to enhance patient engagement, care coordination, and cross-sector collaboration for PLWD and caregivers. Research is also needed to understand the impact of policies promoting the expansion of HIT and data interoperability on health disparities and inequities.

Health Care and Insurance Policies Affecting Care Use and Quality

Norma B. Coe, PhD, University of Pennsylvania

More than half the older population has transitioned from traditional fee-for-service Medicare to Medicare Advantage (MA); the transition rate is greatest among Black and Hispanic enrollees. However, Black Americans tend to enroll in lower quality MA plans, and Black and Hispanic Americans with MA are more likely to be admitted to segregated nursing homes with fewer resources and lower quality of care. Disparities also affect use of home- and community-based services (HCBS). HCBS increases paid care utilization, decreases institutionalizations, and benefits caregivers, but is associated with more hospitalizations and lower levels of social engagement. HCBS use varies widely across states and populations, and research is needed to understand what drives these differences.

Moderated Discussion Highlights

Panelists: Emmanuel Fulgence Drabo, PhD, Johns Hopkins University, Maricruz Rivera-Hernandez, PhD, Brown University, and Tina Sadarangani, PhD, RN, New York University

Addressing Geographic and Racial and Ethnic Disparities

Researchers must study how well comprehensive care models work among diverse populations and settings. These studies can provide data that health care organizations need to show a programs' financial viability. Medicare has done much work to address disparities in dementia care, but more efforts are needed to address geographic disparities, in part through increased use of telehealth. HIT could address disparities by bringing care to PLWD, but because of disparities in access to broadband, HIT could also exacerbate existing disparities.

Care Integration and Data Sharing Across Care Settings

To deliver higher standards of dementia care, care must be integrated across neighborhoods, the home, hospitals, and community-based care centers. For example, one-third to one-half of people enrolled in adult day care services are living with dementia. These centers are frequently under resourced and lack technology to facilitate collaborative care, increasing

fragmentation and costly outcomes. Yet, they are an invaluable source of clinical information and support better health. Research should focus on gathering data to elucidate disparities in understudied settings—like adult day care—as well as how payers and providers to can incentivize data exchange and interoperability.

Policy Impacts

Older adults often find it difficult to understand how different care plans such as MA affect care quality and to determine which plan has the most appropriate benefits. Additional research is needed on why Black and Hispanic MA enrollees have worse outcomes than White enrollees.

Session 5: Support for Care Partners and Caregivers

Co-Chairs: Kenneth W. Hepburn, PhD, Emory University, and Liz Necka, PhD, NIA

Each year, more than 11 million Americans provide more than 16 billion hours of unpaid care for PLWD, valued at \$271 billion. The few existing evidence-based programs for caregivers are not widely disseminated or culturally tailored. This session explored caregiving needs, supports, and sources of strength and resilience, which can vary by culture, caregiving networks, stage of disease, and living situation (e.g., kinlessness, PLWD living alone).

Informal Dementia Care: Context Matters

Karen A. Roberto, PhD, Virginia Tech

Relative to their non-rural counterparts, rural caregivers report less choice in caregiving responsibilities, simultaneously caring for multiple people, more weekly hours of care, greater difficulty finding affordable services, and fewer conversations with care providers about their own needs. Rural extended family caregivers are more likely to report exhaustion, lack of personal time, physical health problems, and not attending support and educational programs. Lack of access to care and services, income, education, and resistance to using community services may contribute to low use of services and supports in rural areas. To tailor interventions and service models to rural communities, research is needed on variation across places and families.

The Sooner the Better: Implementation Considerations When Initiating Intervention Development

Joseph E. Gaugler, PhD, University of Minnesota

To develop interventions for caregivers that can be implemented broadly, researchers must engage caregivers and other stakeholders at the earliest stages of intervention design to solicit and incorporate their feedback. Researchers should use implementation science approaches (e.g., hybrid effectiveness studies and MOST) to understand why and how an intervention works (its mechanisms of benefit) and to collect information about whether it is likely to be widely adopted (e.g., its feasibility, acceptability, and perceived utility). Interventions can only be adapted to a wide range of contexts when their mechanisms of benefit are understood.

Expanding Policy Supports to Promote Caregiver Resilience and Well-Being

Courtney Van Houtven, PhD, Duke University

Caregivers—especially female and Black caregivers—have worse economic wellbeing than non-caregivers. To address caregivers' poor economic outcomes, researchers need to explore policies that are systems-level, evidence-based, and targeted for maximum impact; relying on individuals to seek out services is not an equitable approach. Providers and public health workers should screen patients for caregiver status to match them with financial programs, services, and supports and to monitor them for poor health outcomes. Little research has been done on effective caregiver-focused policies, with a few notable exceptions, including statelevel tax credits and paid leave for caregivers and the National Veterans Affairs Comprehensive Caregiver Policy.

Moderated Discussion Highlights

Panelists: Rita Choula, AARP Public Policy Institute, Jason Resendez, National Alliance for Caregiving, and Cassandra Thomas, Care Assistant

Influence of Cultural Sensitivity on Caregivers' Wellbeing and Research Participation
Interventions and policies must be culturally sensitive and rooted in caregivers' lived

Interventions and policies must be culturally sensitive and rooted in caregivers' lived experiences. Ms. Thomas shared that a lack of cultural sensitivity led her to feel shame and anxiety when communicating her grandmother's care needs to health providers. Cultural sensitivity is especially important in research on family caregiving because definitions of family vary across cultures, geographies, races, ethnicities, and gender and sexual identities. Many family caregivers, particularly in rural areas, do not see themselves as caregivers but as "doing what they are supposed to do." Recruiting research participants based on tasks they perform rather than a self-identified label of "caregiver" can help identify people who do not view themselves as caregivers. However, caregivers who describe themselves as such may receive more respect and compassion from health care providers.

PLWD Who Lack Primary Caregivers

An increasing number of PLWD lack primary caregivers, and this particularly vulnerable subgroup is understudied. Some of these individuals may have secondary caregivers, including nonrelatives, or a network of caregivers who provide intermittent care.

Session 6: Dementia Care Workforce

Co-Chairs: Joanne Spetz, PhD, University of California, San Francisco, and Elena Fazio, PhD, NIA

This session explored research innovations and challenges pertaining to the paid dementia care workforce across a range of settings, including clinical care, nursing homes, assisted living, and HCBS settings. Presenters discussed the 2022 NASEM consensus study report The National Imperative to Improve Nursing Home Quality and implications for future research.

Setting the Stage: What We Know (and Don't Know) About the Dementia Care Workforce Bianca K. Frogner, PhD, University of Washington

The United States lacks national data on characteristics and roles of care workers who provide care for PLWD. State data are also often lacking because many care workers serve in positions that do not require licensure. Even when licensure data are available, states lack information regarding the specific jobs held. Home health aides and care workers who work in long-term care settings (e.g., residential care facilities and nursing homes) tend to be majority non-White, have low educational attainment (80% lack bachelor's degrees), and have high turnover rates.

Challenges for the Nursing Home Direct Care Workforce and the Way Forward Jasmine L. Travers, PhD, RN, New York University

Approximately 600,000 certified nursing assistants (CNAs) work in nursing homes, where half of residents are PLWD. These CNAs receive low pay, limited benefits, and limited training. To improve CNA recruitment and retention, a 2022 NASEM report recommended wage passthroughs (funds provided by Medicaid for the express purpose of increasing compensation), quality incentive programs, minimum staffing and staffing standards, appropriation of funds to staffing, and adjusting of pay to living wage and competitive wage indicators. Beyond raising compensation, the report called for additional education and training, empowering workers through teamwork and shared decision making, and providing respect, recognition, and career advancement opportunities. Research is needed on worker demographics, pay equity, staff satisfaction, and the effectiveness of various recruitment and retention strategies.

The Direct Care Workforce in Home-Based Dementia Care: Opportunities to Improve Care Jennifer Reckrey, MD, Mount Sinai

Approximately one in four community dwelling PLWD receive paid direct care. Care workers provide functional support, help identify new medical issues, assist with chronic disease management, support caregiver mental health and well-being, and may play dual and potentially conflicting roles as "part of the family" and as "the eyes and ears" of the health care team. However, little data exist on the workers providing this care, the types of care provided, its quality and relationship to health outcomes, and how care workers collaborate with family caregivers and health care teams. Research is needed on this workforce, their training, pay, and characteristics, and on home care quality, its impacts on caregivers and PLWD, and how to better incorporate direct care workers in health care teams.

Moderated Discussion Highlights

Panelists: David C. Grabowski, PhD, Harvard University, and Melissa Myers-Bristol, MPA, Clayton County Senior Services Department, Georgia

Assessing the Impacts of Organizational Efforts to Improve Recruitment and Retention
Many organizations are piloting efforts to improve recruitment and retention of the direct care
workforce, but their impacts are not being assessed. Nursing homes need to partner with

researchers and other stakeholders who can disseminate information and scale successful programs and strategies.

Studying State-Level Variation in Policies Supporting the Direct Care Workforce

States have employed multiple approaches to using Medicaid funds for long-term care and HCBS. This state-level variation in Medicaid coverage affects direct care workforce training, benefits, and wages, leading some workers to move to other states to obtain better jobs. It also creates an opportunity to study how different policies affect the direct care workforce and PLWD and their caregivers.

Need for Additional Data on Racial and Ethnic Disparities Among the Direct Care WorkforceSome evidence suggests that people of color working in nursing homes disproportionately work night shifts and understaffed shifts. However, the lack of demographic data on the direct care workforce precludes the ability to understand racial and ethnic disparities and their drivers.

Session 7: Economic Impacts, Implications, and Approaches

Co-Chairs: Pei-Jung Lin, PhD, Tufts Medical Center, and Priscilla Novak, PhD, NIA

This session described the economic impact of dementia on families and the health care system and opportunities to alleviate economic burden. Presentations considered financial incentives in the health care system to improve dementia care coordination and patient outcomes and to reduce costs. They addressed novel approaches to measuring the value of innovations in dementia care and treatment, and the impact of dementia on health care and economic decision making.

Financial Decision Making, Cognitive Decline, and Alzheimer's Disease Duke Han, PhD, University of Southern California

As some people age, their decision-making ability declines, increasing their susceptibility to poor financial and health decisions and exploitation; this decline is especially a problem for PLWD. Neuropathological brain changes in AD often precede cognitive symptoms and can affect decision making as well as memory. Changes in decision making may be an early sign of AD. Early financial planning may help ensure individuals' wishes are respected. Racial disparities in financial and health decision making exist; a recent study found these disparities are fully mediated by differences in health and financial literacy, which could be addressed through early financial planning.

Health Care Utilization Before and After a Dementia Diagnosis in Medicare Advantage (MA) and Traditional Medicare

Mireille Jacobson, PhD, University of Southern California

MA plans receive a risk-adjusted per patient payment and have stronger incentives than traditional Medicare (TM) to coordinate care and to code diagnoses, but also to potentially skimp on care (quality metrics offset this risk). Compared to TM beneficiaries, MA beneficiaries are more likely to receive yearly cognitive screening during annual wellness visits. Falls, ED

visits, and potentially avoidable hospitalizations spike more sharply among TM than MA beneficiaries in the months leading to a dementia diagnosis. Research is needed to determine whether lower MA costs result from care coordination, care shifting, or health system differences, and to assess the impact of MA versus TM on stress, disease management, caregiver well-being, and care access and satisfaction.

Costs and Cost-Effectiveness in Dementia Care

Peter J. Neumann, ScD, Tufts Medical Center

The Institute for Clinical and Economic Review assessed the cost-effectiveness of new monoclonal antibodies that reduce amyloid burden in the brain, finding that their current costs range from \$200,000-275,000 per life year and quality-adjusted life year (QALY) gained. However, these estimates will fluctuate with changes in drug pricing. According to some studies, interventions such as support for unpaid caregivers or the use of cerebrospinal fluid biomarkers for diagnosis cost between \$11,000-13,000 per QALY. To determine whether the new treatments are cost effective, additional research is needed on the economic burden of dementia on families and society, particularly of non-medical costs; risk preferences of patients and their caregivers; and the effects of different interventions and treatments on caregivers and extended families.

Moderated Discussion Highlights

Darius Lakdawalla, PhD, University of Southern California, Helen Lamont, PhD, Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation, Rachel Werner, MD, PhD, University of Pennsylvania

Research Needed to Inform Dementia Care Policies

Policymakers need additional information on the cost to recruit and retain staff to deliver interventions and to make EHR, IT, and other workflow-related changes, as well as on how intervention impacts vary by race, ethnicity, neighborhood, eligibility for Medicaid and Medicare, health system, and other characteristics. Researchers should share any selection issues in their studies so that policymakers understand which findings generalize across populations.

Policymakers also need better data to understand how Medicare, Medicaid, and community organizations and family payments interact throughout the disease course. Such data would help determine whether Medicare payments early in the disease course forestall nursing home placement and reduce overall costs and reveal how payments impact caregivers. For example, Medicare's shift to bundled payments and use of accountable care organizations—meant to increase the value of care—has led to a decline in Medicare-funded post-hospital nursing home stays and home health care, which may inadvertently increase caregiver burden. Medicare determines the value of diagnostic and prognostic information based on how such information affects treatment decisions—a perspective that overlooks its potential value for families' financial and care planning and its effects on treatment decisions for co-morbidities.

Session 8: Approaches to Participatory Research and Diverse Recruitment and Retention in Dementia Care Research

Co-Chairs: Crystal M. Glover, PhD, Rush University, and Cerise Elliott, PhD, NIA

This session explored approaches to the integration of demographically diverse caregivers of PLWD throughout the research process, including community-based approaches to outreach, engagement, recruitment, and sustainability that begin prior to research question development.

Unique Identity Challenges for the Recruitment of American Indian/Alaska Native caregivers into Dementia Care Research

Jordan P. Lewis, PhD, University of Minnesota

Although they do not always identify as caregivers, Indigenous caregivers have a strong cultural commitment to caregiving and possess a wealth of knowledge and experience that can be leveraged to develop culturally responsive training and education. Developing caregiver advisory committees of local caregivers and tribal health and other providers can help researchers connect with the community and individuals who do not identify as caregivers, learn their values, and ensure that study protocols are culturally responsive and respectful. Researchers should provide respite, transportation, and food to reduce barriers to research participation.

Insights to Engaging and Recruiting Vietnamese Americans in Dementia Caregiving Research Van Ta Park, PhD, University of California, San Francisco

To pilot a culturally tailored, evidence-based psychoeducational program for Vietnamese American caregivers, Dr. Park conducted qualitative interviews with health care professionals and others serving Vietnamese Americans and used culturally and linguistically tailored outreach and study materials as well as bilingual study materials, staff, and facilitators. Participants in control and intervention arms expressed gratitude for being included in research. Dr. Park has also developed culturally tailored, multilingual materials for Korean American caregivers and a registry for Asian American caregivers. Her work demonstrates the value of multilingual, culturally sensitive interventions for under included groups.

Community Relationships Are Critical for the Recruitment of African American Families in Dementia Care Research

Fayron Epps, PhD, RN, Emory University

African American caregivers may distrust the research process and have concerns about the confidentiality of their information. Researchers should be open, present, responsive, and address all caregiver questions. They should form community-based partnerships with organizations and leaders who are key within African American communities (e.g., Black fraternities and sororities, barbershops, faith communities) and ensure that recruitment events and other study activities occur when community members are available. Researchers should

be flexible about study protocols by providing backup options for participation as many African American caregivers have competing priorities (e.g., jobs, multiple care obligations).

Moderated Discussion Highlights

Panelists: Martha Williams, MS, MFT, Christine Nguyen, MD, and Deacon Robert Reid

Building Trust and Understanding Community Needs and History

Panelists described participating in research to help their loved ones and communities, gain caregiving knowledge, advance recognition of caregivers, and reduce stigma associated with dementia. They emphasized the importance of researchers building trust, avoiding labels and jargon, reducing language barriers, and understanding different communities' histories. Dr. Christine Nguyen's parents, for example, lost the ability to speak English as they developed dementia and exhibited PTSD from the Vietnam War, being refugees, and later social isolation, all which may have contributed to their diagnoses.

Conclusion

Following the 2023 Summit, the Steering Committee met to revise the draft gaps and opportunities based upon the Summit discussions, presentations, and Listening Session, and to identify research gaps and opportunities that reflected the Summit's cross-cutting themes of inclusive science and health equity, as well as additional cross-cutting themes that emerged during the Summit.

The research gaps and opportunities do not represent consensus advice. The 2023 Summit research gaps and opportunities represent a synthesis of the individual contributions of the PLWD, care partners, researchers, and other stakeholders involved in the Summit process regarding the most critical areas of dementia care research. The lessons learned at the 2023 Summit and encapsulated by these gaps and opportunities offer the dementia care and caregiving research community a chance to build on the progress made since the 2020 Summit, support the continued development of person-centered dementia care and caregiving research, and contribute to meaningful outcomes for PLWD and their care partners and caregivers.

Appendix 1: 2023 Summit Research Gaps and Opportunities

Session 1: What Matters Framework and Living Well With AD/ADRD

G&O 1.1: Create core outcome measure sets that effectively evaluate outcomes of central importance to diverse persons living with dementia and their care partners that are standardized methods and harmonizable across studies.

- Ensure suitability for clinical trials and allow for progression and type of dementia.
 Research should identify the extent to which core outcome measure sets need to vary by dementia type, stage of life (e.g., working age vs. retired), or other major characteristics.
- Facilitate collaborative research among investigators worldwide involved in personcentered measurement and evaluation.

G&O 1.2: Develop and refine approaches to measuring meaningful outcomes for persons living with dementia and their care partners.

- Consider such important aspects as well-being, affect, positive/negative emotions
 experienced or exhibited by persons living with dementia, meaningfulness, a sense of
 purposefulness, and safety.
- Understand the potential differences in values, priorities, and measurement considerations for meaningful outcomes between individuals' living with dementia and their care partner(s).
- Incorporate strategies for validating self-reported and/or observer-reported instruments, for defining thresholds for meaningful and clinically significant improvement and maintenance of outcomes in the context of disease progression.

G&O 1.3: Develop and refine approaches for individual goal setting and assessment of goal attainment that are suitable for use in dementia care and caregiving research, including pragmatic trials. This includes developing instruments/toolkits and processes for clinical implementation.

Session 2: Impact of Detection and Diagnosis on Individuals and Care Partners

G&O 2.1: Conduct NIH Stage I and II Model for Behavioral Intervention Development research in diverse populations, geographic settings, and environments of care to understand desirability, feasibility, and accessibility of early detection tools for dementia risk and the impacts on health decisions.

G&O 2.2: Curate representative, real-world primary care and population-based data resources to accelerate research on the development and approval of fair and equitable detection and

risk stratification tools for dementia and to elucidate the mechanisms driving disparities in diagnosis, diagnosis timing, and post-diagnosis care; and improve equity in care.

G&O 2.3: Conduct research to determine data sufficiency and algorithmic fairness considerations across dementia screening and detection tools that engage routine health-related data to promote equitable validation, use, and adoption of these tools in real world settings.

Session 3: Dementia Care Models and Coordination of Care

G&O 3.1: Develop and evaluate care management models that integrate medical and psychosocial approaches, starting at the point of acute and post-acute treatment settings such as in emergency department, urgent care, inpatient, and post-acute settings, and extending across the care continuum.

 Conduct research to address and evaluate the models' impacts on avoidable emergency department visits and revisits, hospitalizations, and care transitions.

G&O 3.2: Expand, adapt, and evaluate care management models that merge medical and psychosocial approaches to care for different patient populations across varied locales and health systems such as underrepresented minority groups, rural and urban locales, large health systems and small practices, different disease types, and patients with minimal caregiver support.

G&O 3.3: Enhance the effectiveness and implementation of care management models by evaluating key components using innovative research designs. Interventions should be optimized for outcomes important to people living with dementia and caregivers, and by parameters of interest to health systems and payers, including but not limited to program cost, dosage, setting, and staffing models.

Session 4: Disparities in Health Care Access, Utilization, and Quality

G&O 4.1: Identify and implement strategies to expand data availability and linkages between data sources at local, state, and federal levels—as well as across health care settings in and out of traditional health systems.

- Develop methods to improve data interoperability and integration or health information exchange across different health care settings, including care settings outside health systems, such as adult day centers or federally qualified health centers, as well as informal care settings.
- Ensure that data enhancement strategies facilitate the investigation of social determinants of health and increase representation of vulnerable and underrepresented populations to enable examination of disparities in dementia care access and quality.

G&O 4.2: Examine how health information technology affects care access, quality, and costs for people living with dementia and caregivers for populations disproportionately affected and underrepresented in research.

- Identify and describe the factors driving disparities in health information technology
 accessibility, availability, and utilization—including the importance of user-friendly
 design of patient portals to engage patients and caregivers and telemedicine to monitor
 post-discharge care coordination—as they relate to disease and disability prevention,
 treatment, and care management.
- Examine variabilities in health information technology access and develop strategies to address disparities in accessibility and use across different settings, including traditional community, residential care, and nursing home sites.

G&O 4.3: Research how health care policies and payment models differentially affect access and quality of care received by people living with dementia in community and residential settings to guide interventions.

Analyze how the use of medical care, long-term services and supports, as well as care
quality, are impacted by Medicare, Medicaid, and other health insurance models such as
private long-term-care coverage. Also examine the effects on provider performance and
the pathways to accessing care.

Session 5: Support for Care Partners and Caregivers

G&O 5.1: Develop and evaluate new methods while gauging and refining existing techniques that enable health systems to improve equitable identification of caregivers for provision of supports and services as well as enhance care-focused interventions.

G&O 5.2: Conduct culturally informed research on caregivers' physical, emotional, and financial well-being and the provision of caregiving supports and services.

G&O 5.3: Build robust evidence about how systems-level policies and practices at the local, state, and national levels impact caregivers' resilience, health, overall well-being (including financial security), and inequities in access to supports and services.

- Examine the impacts on caregivers across sectors including but not limited to public health, health systems, and commercial and corporate entities — especially in terms of the differential effects of policies based on caregivers' race, socio-economic status, place, and health literacy.
- Conduct research that comprehensively and equitably identifies and includes caregivers in studies aimed at evaluating and/or enhancing their capabilities (including individual capacity and that enabled by policy) within intersecting socio-cultural, organizational,

and policy-enabled contexts so their efforts are understood and supported and the care they provide is improved.

Session 6: Dementia Care Workforce

G&O 6.1: Develop data systems that support tracking of workforce education, training, diversity, experience, skills, staffing levels, service to diverse communities, and satisfaction. In addition, identify data linkages to support research on the relationship between the workforce and person-centered outcomes for people living with dementia and their care partners.

- Incorporate workforce information into datasets related to the care of people living with dementia, even when the dataset is not primarily focused on the workforce.
- Include information about the direct care workforce in all dataset development to support research that reflects the roles of and contributions of the dementia workforce.

G&O 6.2: Identify and evaluate interventions and strategies to advance and equitably support all members of the dementia workforce — in every professional level and care setting — to support the replication and dissemination of the most successful approaches.

 Include interventions that consider unpaid caregivers and those working outside of regulated agencies in caregiving positions.

G&O 6.3: Develop measures and research methods to understand the interactions within caregiving teams that include direct care workers and care partners.

- Analyze how the relationships within caregiving teams impact quality of care and outcomes of people living with dementia.
- Conduct research on best approaches for advancing equitable person-centered care and on best approaches for supporting high-quality dementia workforce jobs.

Session 7: Economic Impacts, Implications, and Approaches

G&O 7.1: Examine the relationships among dementia, health insurance, and health care decision making across the disease continuum.

- Analyze how dementia influences health care plan choices between traditional Medicare and Medicare Advantage, as well as across Medicare Advantage plans.
- Assess how different insurance models influence access to care, dementia diagnosis, disease management, and end-of-life care.

G&O 7.2: Examine the relationship between dementia and financial decision making among persons living with dementia and their families across the lifespan.

• Develop, test, and refine technologies to better predict the course of the disease and improve financial and medical decision making.

 Analyze how social determinants of health impact how patients and families pay for care across disease stages, how their retirement savings plans change due to dementia, and the health and financial implications for caregivers in the post-caregiving phase.

G&O 7.3: Expand research to characterize the value of diagnostic and prognostic information.

- Analyze how persons living with dementia and their families make decisions about new treatments, including but not limited to how much they are willing to pay, what side effects and risks they are willing to tolerate, and how they make financial tradeoffs with other care and support services.
- Assess the value of diagnostic innovations and economic implications of blood-based biomarkers.

Session 8: Approaches to Participatory Research and Diverse Recruitment and Retention

G&O 8.1: Conduct research that advances our understanding of culturally, linguistically, and demographically diverse conceptualizations and operationalizations of caregiving and caregiver-related identities.

 Analyze the impact of culturally acceptable and culturally responsive nomenclature on research question development, study design, and sampling, as well as on caregiver engagement, recruitment, and retention.

G&O 8.2: Examine the influence of study design and methodological approaches on engagement, recruitment, and retention in ADRD care and caregiving research.

- Determine strategies to facilitate equitable study sampling and representative recruitment and retention of understudied caregiving populations, including but not limited to, diverse racial and ethnic groups, male-identified caregivers, those who identify as LGBTQIA+, and those in rural and dense micropolitan areas.
- Assess the use of diverse methodologies such as qualitative, mixed methods, and design thinking approaches in the toolkit of rigorous and acceptable study designs for advancing equitable care and caregiving research.

G&O 8.3: Conduct research to understand factors such as culturally relevant and individually driven beliefs, values, and practices that shape diverse lived experiences across the care continuum.

- Assess care continuum that includes end of life and the post-caregiving period after the person living with dementia has passed away.
- Analyze the impact of the post-caregiving period on caregiver health and quality of life, including physical health, mental health, and socioeconomic factors.

Appendix 2: Glossary

Alzheimer's disease and Alzheimer's disease-related dementias (AD/ADRD) refers to the most common forms of dementia. While AD is the most common dementia diagnosis, ADRDs share many cognitive and pathological features and can be difficult to distinguish from AD. In fact, more often than not, patients with an AD diagnosis present with different mixtures of brain pathologies, complicating both the diagnosis and the treatment. ADRDs include frontotemporal degeneration, Lewy body dementia, vascular contributions to cognitive impairment and dementia, and mixed etiology dementias.²

Persons living with dementia (including AD/ADRD) (PLWD) refers to persons living with cognitive symptoms, including mild cognitive impairment or diagnosed dementia.

Care coordination is the deliberate organization of patient care activities between two or more participants (including the patient) involved in a patient's care to facilitate the appropriate delivery of health care services. Organizing care involves the marshalling of personnel and other resources needed to carry out all required patient care activities and is often managed by the exchange of information among participants responsible for different aspects of care. Care coordination for PLWD can range from establishing a dementia care diagnosis, through personcentered management of dementia and other conditions, to end-of-life and palliative care, and to hospice.

Care partner refers to a person with whom the PLWD has a reciprocal relationship who is involved in co-managing the demands of AD/ADRD through such activities as providing emotional support and participating in decision making. Most often, care partners are family members. Care partners may or may not be involved in the provision of hands-on assistance with daily activities as a caregiver. The term caregiver can refer to family members, neighbors, friends, fictive kin, or anyone else providing unpaid health and function-related assistance to PLWD. For the purposes of this report, the term care partner is used throughout for consistency, and its use means care partners and/or caregivers.

Clinicians refers to state-licensed physicians, psychologists, nurses, advance practice providers, pharmacists, physical therapists, occupational therapists, social workers, and other skilled health care workers who are credentialed to care for individual patients.

Direct care workers are paid caregivers who provide hands-on care and personal assistance to PLWD who are living with disabilities, including certified nursing assistants and nursing assistants who generally work in nursing homes, home health aides who assist people in their homes or in community settings (including people who may be receiving skilled home health care), medication aides, and personal care assistants and aides who work in private or group homes.

Summit Report Page 28

_

² See https://www.nia.nih.gov/current-research/focus-disorders/alzheimers-related-dementias and https://www.nia.nih.gov/health/alzheimers/related-dementias for more information.

Disparities are preventable significant differences in the burden of disease, injury, violence, or opportunities to achieve optimal health that are experienced by socially disadvantaged populations across dimensions such as race or ethnicity, gender, education, income, disability, geographic location (e.g., rural or urban), or sexual orientation. Health disparities are directly related to the historical and current unequal distribution of social, political, economic, and environmental resources, including access, use, and quality of care.

Personalized outcomes refers to measures that reflect individual preferences and/or goals that can be used to tailor and individualize services and supports.

Pre-clinical diagnosis refers to individuals who have measurable brain changes that indicate the earliest signs of AD (biomarkers), but who have not yet developed symptoms such as memory loss.

Research gaps and opportunities refers to scientific areas that merit research attention, for which additional scientific investigation holds promise for propelling advances in policy, practice, and care that would improve the lives of persons who are affected by ADRD and their care partners.

Social determinants of health (SDOH) are the conditions in which people are born, grow, live, work, and age shaped by the distribution of money, power, and resources at the global, national, and local levels.

Appendix 3: Summit Agenda

National Research Summit on Care, Services, and Supports for Persons Living with Dementia and Their Care Partners/ Caregivers

Day 1: March 20, 2023

11:00 a.m. to 4:00 p.m. Eastern Time

11:00 a.m. Welcome and Meeting Charge

Speakers: Andrea Gilmore-Bykovskyi and Julie Zissimopoulos

11:15 a.m. Lived Experience Panel and Stakeholder Panel Highlights

Speakers: Leslie Burger, Gary Epstein-Lubow, Reda Harrison, and Monica Moreno

11:30 a.m. NIA Welcome

Speaker: Amy Kelley

11:35 a.m. NIA Dementia Care and Caregiving Research

Speaker: Elena Fazio

12:00 p.m. Session 1 | What Matters Framework and Living Well with AD/ADRD

Session Co-chairs: Antonia V. Bennett and Basil Eldadah

What Matters to People Living with Dementia Living at Home? Developing Outcomes and the

Evidence Base When Evaluating Interventions

Speaker: Siobhan Reilly

Observable Expressions of Positive and Negative Emotion: Affect-Balance

Speaker: Sheila L. Molony

Personalized Health Outcome Measurement in Dementia Care and Services Research

Speaker: Lee A. Jennings

Session 1 Research Gaps and Opportunities

Speaker: Antonia V. Bennett

Panelist Remarks

Speakers: Emmanuelle Belanger, Sam Fazio, and Jim Mangi

Moderated Discussion and Q&A

1:45 p.m. Session 2 | Impact of Detection and Diagnosis on Individuals and Care Partners

Session Co-Chairs: Luis D. Medina and Luke Stoeckel

Risk Prediction of Alzheimer's Disease and Related Dementias in Primary Care Settings

Speaker: Raj C. Shah

Challenges to Equitable Identification of People Living with Dementia for Pragmatic Clinical

Trials

Speaker: Ellen McCreedy

Disparities and Challenges in Dementia Care after Diagnosis

Speaker: Emmanuel Fulgence Drabo

Session 2 Research Gaps and Opportunities

Speaker: Luis D. Medina

Panelist Remarks

Speakers: Nate Chin, Deborah Jobe, and Emily Largent

Moderated Discussion and Q&A

<u>2:50 p.m. Plenary Talk | Challenges and Best Practices for Development and Evaluation of</u> Interventions for Persons Living with Dementia and Their Care Partners

Speaker: Linda M. Collins

Moderated Discussion and Q&A

Moderator: Lisa Onken

Speakers: Kathi Heffner, Brent Mausbach, and Christina S. McCrae

3:50 p.m. Day 1 Closing Remarks

Speakers: Andrea Gilmore-Bykovskyi and Julie Zissimopoulos

Day 2: March 21, 2023

11:00 a.m. - 3:30 p.m. Eastern Time

11:00 a.m. Welcome

Speakers: Andrea Gilmore-Bykovskyi and Julie Zissimopoulos

11:05 a.m. Lived Experience Panel and Stakeholder Panel Highlights

Speakers: Roberta Cruz, Heidi Gil, and Ian Kremer

11:20 a.m. Session 3 | Dementia Care Models and Coordination of Care

Session Co-chairs: Katherine Possin and Marcel Salive

The NASEM Report: Rationale, Illustrative Findings and Expectations of a Way Forward

Speaker: Eric B. Larson

The Vanguard of Comprehensive Dementia Care: Much Done, Much More to Do

Speaker: David B. Reuben

Dementia in the Acute Setting: Expanding and Improving Care

Speaker: Ula Hwang

Session 3 Research Gaps and Opportunities

Speaker: Katherine Possin

Panelist Remarks

Speakers: Carolyn Clevenger, Roberta Cruz, and Shari M. Ling

Moderated Discussion and Q&A

1:00 p.m. Session 4 | Disparities in Health Care Access, Utilization, and Quality

Session Co-Chairs: Chanee Fabius and Emerald T. Nguyen

It's About the Who and Where: The Role of Person and Place in Access and Quality of Care

Speaker: Shekinah Fashaw-Walters

Evidence of Health Information Technology and Reduced Health Disparities in Dementia Care

Speaker: Jie Chen

Health Care and Insurance Policies Affecting Care Use and Quality

Speaker: Norma B. Coe

Session 4 Research Gaps and Opportunities

Speaker: Chanee Fabius

Panelist Remarks

Speakers: Emmanuel Fulgence Drabo, Maricruz Rivera-Hernandez, and Tina Sadarangani

Moderated Discussion and Q&A

<u>2:15 p.m. Session 5 | Support for Care Partners</u> and Caregivers

Session Co-Chairs: Kenneth W. Hepburn and Liz Necka

Informal Dementia Care: Context Matters

Speaker: Karen A. Roberto

The Sooner the Better: Implementation Considerations When Initiating Intervention

Development

Speaker: Joseph E. Gaugler

Expanding Policy Supports to Promote Caregiver Resilience and Well-Being

Speaker: Courtney Van Houtven

Session 5 Research Gaps and Opportunities

Speaker: Kenneth W. Hepburn

Panelist Remarks

Speakers: Rita Choula, Jason Resendez, and Cassandra Thomas

Moderated Discussion and Q&A

3:20 p.m. Day 2 Closing Remarks

Speakers: Andrea Gilmore-Bykovskyi and Julie Zissimopoulos

Day 3: March 22, 2023

11:00 a.m - 3:45 p.m. Eastern Time

11:00 a.m. Welcome

Speakers: Andrea Gilmore-Bykovskyi and Julie Zissimopoulos

11:05 a.m. Lived Experience Panel and Stakeholder Panel Highlights

Speakers: Dave Arnold, Willetha Barnette, and Petra Niles

11:20 a.m. Session 6 | Dementia Care Workforce

Session Co-chairs: Joanne Spetz and Elena Fazio

Setting the Stage: What We Know and Don't Know About the Dementia Care Workforce

Speaker: Bianca K. Frogner

Challenges for the Nursing Home Direct Care Workforce and the Way Forward

Speaker: Jasmine L. Travers

The Direct Care Workforce in Home-Based Dementia Care: Opportunities to Improve Care

Speaker: Jennifer M. Reckrey

Session 6 Research Gaps and Opportunities

Speaker: Joanne Spetz

Panelist Remarks

Speakers: David C. Grabowski and Melissa Myers-Bristol Moderated Discussion and Q&A

1:00 p.m. Session 7 | Economic Impacts, Implications, and Approaches

Session Co-Chairs: Pei-Jung Lin and Priscilla Novak

Financial Decision Making, Cognitive Decline, and Alzheimer's Disease

Speaker: Duke Han

Health Care Utilization Before and After a Dementia Diagnosis in Medicare Advantage and

Traditional Medicare

Speaker: Mireille Jacobson

Costs and Cost-Effectiveness in Dementia Care

Speaker: Peter J. Neumann

Session 7 Research Gaps and Opportunities

Speaker: Pei-Jung Lin

Panelist Remarks

Speakers: Darius Lakdawalla, Helen Lamont, and Rachel Werner

Moderated Discussion and Q&A

<u>2:20 p.m. Session 8 | Approaches to Participatory Research and Diverse Recruitment and Retention in Dementia Care Research</u>

Session Co-Chairs: Crystal M. Glover and Cerise Elliott

Unique Identity Challenges for the Recruitment of AI/AN Caregivers into Dementia Care Research

Speaker: Jordan P. Lewis

Insights to Engaging and Recruiting Vietnamese Americans in Dementia Caregiving Research

Speaker: Van Ta Park

Community Relationships are Critical for the Recruitment of African American Families in

Dementia Care Research Speaker: Fayron Epps

Session 8 Research Gaps and Opportunities

Speaker: Crystal M. Glover

Panelist Remarks

Speakers: Christine Nguyen, Robert Reid, and Martha Williams

Moderated Discussion and Q&A

3:25 p.m. Summit Closing Remarks

Speakers: Andrea Gilmore-Bykovskyi and Julie Zissimopoulos

Appendix 4: References from Summit Presentations

Setting the Stage

Amy Kelley, PhD, NIA

NIA-funded active Alzheimer's and related dementias clinical trials and studies. (n.d.). National Institute on Aging. https://www.nia.nih.gov/research/ongoing-AD-trials

NIA Dementia Care and Caregiving Research

Elena Fazio, PhD, NIA

- Aldridge, M. D., Hunt, L., Husain, M., Li, L., & Kelley, A. (2022). Impact of comorbid dementia on patterns of hospice use. *Journal of Palliative Medicine*, *25*(3), 396–404. https://doi.org/10.1089/jpm.2021.0055
- Ali, T., McAvay, G. J., Monin, J. K., & Gill, T. M. (2022). Patterns of caregiving among older adults with and without dementia: A latent class analysis. *The Journals of Gerontology. Series B, Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences, 77*(Suppl 1), S74–S85. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbab237
- Amjad, H., Samus, Q. M., Huang, J., Gundavarpu, S., Bynum, J. P. W., Wolff, J. L., & Roth, D. L. (2022). Acute care utilization risk among older adults living undiagnosed or unaware of dementia. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 70(2), 470–480. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.17550
- Bardenheier, B., Gravenstein, S., Gutman, R., Sarkar, N., Feifer, R., White, E., & Mor, V. (2021). No increase in short-term mortality following covid-19 vaccination among nursing home residents. *Innovation in Aging*, 5(Suppl 1), 16. https://doi.org/10.1093/geroni/igab046.058
- Bennett, A.V., Hanson, L.C., Epstein-Lubow, G., & Zimmerman, S. (2022). *The 2021-2022 Lived Experience Panel report: Priorities for person and caregiver relevant outcomes in dementia intervention research*. NIA IMPACT Collaboratory.
- Ellis, K. R., Koumoutzis, A., Lewis, J. P., Lin, Z., Zhou, Y., Chopik, W. J., & Gonzalez, R. (2023). Conceptualizing and operationalizing collaboration among multiple caregivers of older adults. *The Journals of Gerontology. Series B, Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences, 78*(Suppl 1), S27–S37. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbac139
- Evertson, L. C., Jennings, L. A., Reuben, D. B., Zaila, K. E., Akram, N., Romero, T., & Tan, Z. S. (2021). Caregiver outcomes of a dementia care program. *Geriatric Nursing*, 42(2), 447–459. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gerinurse.2021.02.003
- Fabius, C. D., & Parker, L. J. (2023). Paid help and caregiving experiences of Black caregivers of community-dwelling older adults. *Clinical Gerontologist*, *46*(1), 91–100. https://doi.org/10.1080/07317115.2022.2099776
- Freedman, V. A., Patterson, S. E., Cornman, J. C., & Wolff, J. L. (2022). A day in the life of caregivers to older adults with and without dementia: Comparisons of care time and

- emotional health. *Alzheimer's & Dementia: The Journal of the Alzheimer's Association*, 18(9), 1650–1661. https://doi.org/10.1002/alz.12550
- Harrison, K. L., Cenzer, I., Ankuda, C. K., Hunt, L. J., & Aldridge, M. D. (2022). Hospice improves care quality for older adults with dementia in their last month of life. *Health Affairs*, *41*(6), 821–830. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2021.01985
- Jacobson, M., Thunell, J., & Zissimopoulos, J. (2020). Cognitive assessment at Medicare's annual wellness visit in fee-for-service and Medicare Advantage Plans. *Health Affairs*, *39*(11), 1935–1942. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2019.01795
- Lassell, R. K. F., Moreines, L. T., Luebke, M. R., Bhatti, K. S., Pain, K. J., Brody, A. A., & Luth, E. A. (2022). Hospice interventions for persons living with dementia, family members and clinicians: A systematic review. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 70(7), 2134–2145. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.17802
- Lees Haggerty, K., Campetti, R., Stoeckle, R. J., Epstein-Lubow, G., Evertson, L. C., Spragens, L., Serrano, K. S., Jennings, L. A., & Reuben, D. B. (2022). Dissemination of a successful dementia care program: Lessons from early adopters. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 70(9), 2677–2685. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.17887
- Lin, P.-J., Zhu, Y., Olchanski, N., Cohen, J. T., Neumann, P. J., Faul, J. D., Fillit, H. M., & Freund, K. M. (2022). Racial and ethnic differences in hospice use and hospitalizations at end-of-life among Medicare beneficiaries with dementia. *JAMA Network Open*, *5*(6), e2216260. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2022.16260
- Lin, S.-Y., Schneider, C. E., Bristol, A. A., Clancy, M., Sprague, S. A., Aldridge, M., Cortes, T., Goldfeld, K. S., Kutner, J. S., Mitchell, S. L., Shega, J. W., Wu, B., Zhu, C. W., & Brody, A. A. (2022). Findings of sequential pilot trials of Aliviado Dementia Care to inform an embedded pragmatic clinical trial. *The Gerontologist*, *62*(2), 304–314. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnaa220
- National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. (2023). *mechanisms for organizational behavior change to address the needs of people living with Alzheimer's disease and related dementias: Proceedings of a workshop*. National Academies Press. https://doi.org/10.17226/26772
- Reckrey, J. M., Li, L., Zhan, S., Wolff, J., Yee, C., & Ornstein, K. A. (2022). Caring together: Trajectories of paid and family caregiving support to those living in the community with dementia. *The Journals of Gerontology. Series B, Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences,* 77(Suppl 1), S11–S20. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbac006
- Reckrey, J. M., Morrison, R. S., Boerner, K., Szanton, S. L., Bollens-Lund, E., Leff, B., & Ornstein, K. A. (2020). Living in the community with dementia: Who receives paid care? *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, *68*(1), 186–191. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.16215
- Reuben, D. B., Gill, T. M., Stevens, A., Williamson, J., Volpi, E., Lichtenstein, M., Jennings, L. A., Tan, Z., Evertson, L., Bass, D., Weitzman, L., Carnie, M., Wilson, N., Araujo, K., Charpentier, P., Meng, C., Greene, E. J., Dziura, J., Liu, J., ... Peduzzi, P. (2020). D-CARE: The Dementia Care Study: Design of a pragmatic trial of the effectiveness and cost effectiveness of health

- system-based versus community-based dementia care versus usual dementia care. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 68(11), 2492–2499. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.16862
- Reuben, D. B., Tan, Z. S., Romero, T., Wenger, N. S., Keeler, E., & Jennings, L. A. (2019). Patient and caregiver benefit from a comprehensive dementia care program: 1-year results from the UCLA Alzheimer's and Dementia Care Program. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 67(11), 2267–2273. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.16085
- Song, Y., McCurry, S. M., Lee, D., Josephson, K. R., McGowan, S. K., Fung, C. H., Irwin, M. R., Teng, E., Alessi, C. A., & Martin, J. L. (2021). Development of a dyadic sleep intervention for Alzheimer's disease patients and their caregivers. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, *43*(13), 1861–1871. https://doi.org/10.1080/09638288.2019.1680748
- Wang, N., Amaize, A., & Chen, J. (2021). Accountable care hospitals and preventable emergency department visits for rural dementia patients. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 69(1), 185–190. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.16858
- White, E. M., Yang, X., Blackman, C., Feifer, R. A., Gravenstein, S., & Mor, V. (2021). Incident SARS-CoV-2 infection among mRNA-vaccinated and unvaccinated nursing home residents. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, *385*(5), 474–476. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMc2104849

Session 1: What Matters Framework and Living Well With AD/ADRD

What Matters to People Living with Dementia Living at Home? Developing Outcomes and the Evidence Base When Evaluating interventions

Siobhan Reilly, PhD, University of Bradford

- Boltz, M., Monturo, C., Brockway, C., Kuzmik, A., Jones, J. R., & Resnick, B. (2021). Function-focused goal attainment and discharge outcomes in hospitalized persons with dementia. *Journal of Gerontological Nursing*, 47(9), 13–20.
- Harding, A. J. E., Morbey, H., Ahmed, F., Opdebeeck, C., Elvish, R., Leroi, I., Williamson, P. R., Keady, J., & Reilly, S. T. (2021). A core outcome set for nonpharmacological community-based interventions for people living with dementia at home: A systematic review of outcome measurement instruments. *The Gerontologist*, *61*(8), e435–e448.
- Harding, A. J. E., Morbey, H., Ahmed, F., Opdebeeck, C., Lasrado, R., Williamson, P. R., Swarbrick, C., Leroi, I., Challis, D., Hellstrom, I., Burns, A., Keady, J., & Reilly, S. T. (2019). What is important to people living with dementia?: The "long-list" of outcome items in the development of a core outcome set for use in the evaluation of non-pharmacological community-based health and social care interventions. *BMC Geriatrics*, 19(1), 94.
- Harding, A. J. E., Morbey, H., Ahmed, F., Opdebeeck, C., Wang, Y.-Y., Williamson, P., Swarbrick, C., Leroi, I., Challis, D., Davies, L., Reeves, D., Holland, F., Hann, M., Hellström, I., Hydén, L.-C., Burns, A., Keady, J., & Reilly, S. (2018). Developing a core outcome set for people living with dementia at home in their neighbourhoods and communities: Study protocol for use

- in the evaluation of non-pharmacological community-based health and social care interventions. *Trials*, 19(1), 247.
- Lane, P., Foster, R., Gardiner, L., Lanceley, L., & Purvis, A. (2013). Work programme evaluation. Procurement, Supply Chains and Implementation of the Commissioning Model. https://www.bl.uk/britishlibrary/~/media/bl/global/social-welfare/pdfs/non-secure/w/o/r/work-programme-evaluation-procurement-supply-chains-and-implementation-of-the-commissioning-model-001.pdf
- Morbey, H., Harding, A. J. E., Swarbrick, C., Ahmed, F., Elvish, R., Keady, J., Williamson, P. R., & Reilly, S. T. (2019). Involving people living with dementia in research: An accessible modified Delphi survey for core outcome set development. *Trials*, *20*(1), 12.
- Reilly, S. T., Harding, A. J. E., Morbey, H., Ahmed, F., Williamson, P. R., Swarbrick, C., Leroi, I., Davies, L., Reeves, D., Holland, F., Hann, M., & Keady, J. (2020). What is important to people with dementia living at home? A set of core outcome items for use in the evaluation of non-pharmacological community-based health and social care interventions. *Age and Ageing*, 49(4), 664–671.
- Reuben, D. B., Gill, T. M., Stevens, A., Williamson, J., Volpi, E., Lichtenstein, M., Jennings, L. A., Tan, Z., Evertson, L., Bass, D., Weitzman, L., Carnie, M., Wilson, N., Araujo, K., Charpentier, P., Meng, C., Greene, E. J., Dziura, J., Liu, J., ... Peduzzi, P. (2020). D-CARE: The Dementia Care Study: Design of a pragmatic trial of the effectiveness and cost effectiveness of health system-based versus community-based dementia care versus usual dementia care. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society, 68*(11), 2492–2499.

Observable Expressions of Positive and Negative Emotion: Affect-Balance *Sheila L. Molony, PhD, RN, Quinnipiac University*

- Bradburn, N. M., & Edward Noll, C. (1969). *The structure of psychological well-being*. Aldine Publishing Company. https://play.google.com/store/books/details?id=9h9-AAAAMAAJ
- #Envision2030 goal 3: Good health and well-being. (n.d.). https://www.un.org/development/desa/disabilities/envision2030-goal3.html
- Fredrickson, B. L., & Branigan, C. (2005). Positive emotions broaden the scope of attention and thought-action repertoires. *Cognition & Emotion*, *19*(3), 313–332. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699930441000238
- Kinney, J. M., & Rentz, C. A. (2005). Observed well-being among individuals with dementia: Memories in the Making©, an art program, versus other structured activity. *American Journal of Alzheimer's Disease and Other Dementias*, 20(4), 220–227. https://doi.org/10.1177/153331750502000406
- Kolanowski, A., Behrens, L., Lehman, E., Oravecz, Z., Resnick, B., Boltz, M., Van Haitsma, K., Galik, E., Ellis, J., & Eshraghi, K. (2020). Living WELL WITH DEMENTIA: Factors associated with nursing home residents' affect balance. *Research in Gerontological Nursing*, 13(1), 21–30. https://doi.org/10.3928/19404921-20190823-01

- Kolanowski, A., Hoffman, L., & Hofer, S. M. (2007). Concordance of self-report and informant assessment of emotional well-being in nursing home residents with dementia. *The Journals of Gerontology. Series B, Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 62(1), P20–P27. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/62.1.p20
- Kolanowski, A. M., Litaker, M. S., & Catalano, P. A. (2002). Emotional well-being in a person with dementia. *Western Journal of Nursing Research*, *24*(1), 28–43; discussion 43–48. https://doi.org/10.1177/01939450222045699
- Kolanowski, A. M., Van Haitsma, K., Meeks, S., & Litaker, M. (2014). Affect balance and relationship with well-being in nursing home residents with dementia. *American Journal of Alzheimer's Disease and Other Dementias*, 29(5), 457–462. https://doi.org/10.1177/1533317513518657
- Kolanowski, A., Zhu, S., Van Haitsma, K., Resnick, B., Boltz, M., Galik, E., Behrens, L., Eshraghi, K., & Ellis, J. (2022). 12-month trajectory and predictors of affect balance in nursing home residents living with dementia. *Aging & Mental Health*, *26*(8), 1686–1692. https://doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2021.1947964
- Lawton, M. P., Van Haitsma, K., & Klapper, J. (1996). Observed affect in nursing home residents with Alzheimer's disease. *The Journals of Gerontology. Series B, Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, *51*(1), P3–P14. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/51b.1.p3
- Lee, K. H., Lee, J. Y., Boltz, M., & McConnell, E. S. (2019). Emotional expression of persons with dementia: An integrative review with implications for evidence-based practice. *Worldviews on Evidence-Based Nursing / Sigma Theta Tau International, Honor Society of Nursing*, 16(5), 344–351. https://doi.org/10.1111/wvn.12395
- Lee, K. H., Lee, J. Y., Kim, B., & Boltz, M. (2022). Event-specific emotional expression of persons living with dementia in long-term care: A 6 months follow-up study. *Clinical Nursing Research*, 31(2), 320–328. https://doi.org/10.1177/10547738211047047
- Madsø, K. G., Flo-Groeneboom, E., Pachana, N. A., & Nordhus, I. H. (2021). Assessing momentary well-being in people living with dementia: A systematic review of observational instruments. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *12*, 742510. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.742510
- McDermott, O., Orgeta, V., Ridder, H. M., & Orrell, M. (2014). A preliminary psychometric evaluation of Music in Dementia Assessment Scales (MiDAS). *International Psychogeriatrics / IPA*, *26*(6), 1011–1019. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1041610214000180
- McDermott, O., Orrell, M., & Ridder, H. M. (2015). The development of Music in Dementia Assessment Scales (MiDAS). *Nordic Journal of Music Therapy*, *24*(3), 232–251. https://doi.org/10.1080/08098131.2014.907333
- Meeks, S., Van Haitsma, K., Kostiwa, I., & Murrell, S. A. (2012). Positivity and well-being among community-residing elders and nursing home residents: What is the optimal affect balance? *The Journals of Gerontology. Series B, Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 67(4), 460–467. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbr135

- Molony, S. L., Evans, L. K., Jeon, S., Rabig, J., & Straka, L. A. (2011). Trajectories of at-homeness and health in usual care and small house nursing homes. *The Gerontologist*, *51*(4), 504–515. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnr022
- Øksnebjerg, L., Diaz-Ponce, A., Gove, D., Moniz-Cook, E., Mountain, G., Chattat, R., & Woods, B. (2018). Towards capturing meaningful outcomes for people with dementia in psychosocial intervention research: A pan-European consultation. *Health Expectations: An International Journal of Public Participation in Health Care and Health Policy*, 21(6), 1056–1065. https://doi.org/10.1111/hex.12799
- Phillips, L. J., Reid-Arndt, S. A., & Pak, Y. (2010). Effects of a creative expression intervention on emotions, communication, and quality of life in persons with dementia. *Nursing Research*, 59(6), 417–425. https://doi.org/10.1097/NNR.0b013e3181faff52
- Rentz, C. A. (2002). Memories in the making: Outcome-based evaluation of an art program for individuals with dementing illnesses. *American Journal of Alzheimer's Disease and Other Dementias*, 17(3), 175–181. https://doi.org/10.1177/153331750201700310
- Sakamoto, M., Ando, H., & Tsutou, A. (2013). Comparing the effects of different individualized music interventions for elderly individuals with severe dementia. *International Psychogeriatrics / IPA*, 25(5), 775–784. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1041610212002256
- Sauer, P. E., Fopma-Loy, J., Kinney, J. M., & Lokon, E. (2016). "It makes me feel like myself": Person-centered versus traditional visual arts activities for people with dementia. Dementia, 15(5), 895–912. https://doi.org/10.1177/1471301214543958
- Schall, A., Haberstroh, J., & Pantel, J. (2015). Time series analysis of individual music therapy in dementia. *GeroPsych*, *28*(3), 113–122. https://doi.org/10.1024/1662-9647/a000123
- Tan, J., Wee, S.-L., Yeo, P. S., Choo, J., Ritholz, M., & Yap, P. (2019). A new music therapy engagement scale for persons with dementia. *International Psychogeriatrics / IPA, 31*(1), 49–58. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1041610218000509
- Tappen, R. M., & Williams, C. L. (2008). Development and testing of the Alzheimer's Disease and Related Dementias Mood Scale. *Nursing Research*, *57*(6), 426–435. https://doi.org/10.1097/NNR.0b013e31818c3dcc
- Vogelpohl, T. S., & Beck, C. K. (1997). Affective Responses to Behavioral Interventions. *Seminars in Clinical Neuropsychiatry*, 2(2), 102–112. https://doi.org/10.1053/SCNP00200102
- Watson, D., Clark, L. A., & Tellegen, A. (1988). Development and validation of brief measures of positive and negative affect: the PANAS scales. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *54*(6), 1063–1070. https://doi.org/10.1037//0022-3514.54.6.1063
- Well-being concepts. (2018, November 5). https://www.cdc.gov/hrqol/wellbeing.htm
- Wolverson, E. L., Clarke, C., & Moniz-Cook, E. D. (2016). Living positively with dementia: A systematic review and synthesis of the qualitative literature. *Aging & Mental Health*, *20*(7), 676–699. https://doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2015.1052777

- Personalized Health Outcome Measurement in Dementia Care and Services Research Lee Jennings, MD, MSHS, University of Oklahoma Health Sciences Center
- Boltz, M., Monturo, C., Brockway, C., Kuzmik, A., Jones, J. R., & Resnick, B. (2021). Function-focused goal attainment and discharge outcomes in hospitalized persons with dementia. *Journal of Gerontological Nursing*, 47(9), 13–20. https://doi.org/10.3928/00989134-20210803-01
- Burton, A., Rapaport, P., Palomo, M., Lord, K., Budgett, J., Barber, J., Hunter, R., Butler, L., Vickerstaff, J., Rockwood, K., Ogden, M., Smith, D., Lang, I., Livingston, G., Dow, B., Kales, H., Manthorpe, J., Walters, K., Hoe, J., ... NIDUS study team. (2021). Clinical and cost-effectiveness of a New psychosocial intervention to support Independence in Dementia (NIDUS-family) for family carers and people living with dementia in their own homes: a randomised controlled trial. *Trials*, 22(1), 865. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13063-021-05851-2
- Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. (n.d.) *Overview of the CMS Meaningful Measures Initiative*. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.

 https://www.cms.gov/Medicare/Quality-Initiatives-Patient-Assessment-Instruments/QualityInitiativesGenInfo/Downloads/CMS-Meaningful-Measures Overview-Fact-Sheet 508 2018-02-28.pdf
- Giovannetti, E. R., Clair, C. A., Jennings, L. A., Sandberg, S. F., Bowman, A., Reuben, D. B., & Scholle, S. H. (2021). Standardised approach to measuring goal-based outcomes among older disabled adults: Results from a multisite pilot. *BMJ Quality & Safety*, 30(2), 157–166. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjqs-2019-010742
- Jennings, L. A., Ramirez, K. D., Hays, R. D., Wenger, N. S., & Reuben, D. B. (2018). Personalized goal attainment in dementia care: Measuring what persons with dementia and their caregivers want. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 66(11), 2120–2127. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.15541
- Krasny-Pacini, A., Evans, J., Sohlberg, M. M., & Chevignard, M. (2016). Proposed criteria for appraising goal attainment scales used as outcome measures in rehabilitation research. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, *97*(1), 157–170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmr.2015.08.424
- Linc-ad. (n.d.). LINC-AD. https://alz.org/linc-ad/overview.asp
- Mold, J. W. (2022). Failure of the problem-oriented medical paradigm and a person-centered alternative. *Annals of Family Medicine*, 20(2), 145–148. https://doi.org/10.1370/afm.2782
- National Committee for Quality Assurance. (2018). *Goals to care: How to keep the* person *in "person-centered."* https://www.ncqa.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/20180531 Report Goals to Care Spotlight.pdf
- Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation. (n.d.). *National Research Summit on Care, Services and Supports for Persons with Dementia and their caregivers: Final summit report*. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.

- https://aspe.hhs.gov/reports/national-research-summit-care-services-supports-persons-dementia-their-caregivers-final-summit-0
- Reuben, D. B., Gill, T. M., Stevens, A., Williamson, J., Volpi, E., Lichtenstein, M., Jennings, L. A., Tan, Z., Evertson, L., Bass, D., Weitzman, L., Carnie, M., Wilson, N., Araujo, K., Charpentier, P., Meng, C., Greene, E. J., Dziura, J., Liu, J., ... Peduzzi, P. (2020). D-CARE: The Dementia Care Study: Design of a pragmatic trial of the effectiveness and cost effectiveness of health system-based versus community-based dementia care versus usual dementia care. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 68(11), 2492–2499. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.16862
- Reuben, D. B., & Jennings, L. A. (2019). Putting goal-oriented patient care into practice. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, *67*(7), 1342–1344. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.15885
- Reuben, D. B., & Tinetti, M. E. (2012). Goal-oriented patient care—an alternative health outcomes paradigm. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, *366*(9), 777–779. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMp1113631
- Tinetti, M. E., Naik, A. D., & Dodson, J. A. (2016). Moving from disease-centered to patient goals—directed care for patients with multiple chronic conditions: Patient value-based care. *JAMA Cardiology*, 1(1), 9–10. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamacardio.2015.0248th

Session 2: Impact of Detection and Diagnosis on Individuals and Care Partners

Risk Prediction of Alzheimer's Disease and Related Dementias in Primary Care Settings Raj C. Shah, MD, Rush University

- Anstey, K. J., Zheng, L., Peters, R., Kootar, S., Barbera, M., Stephen, R., Dua, T., Chowdhary, N., Solomon, A., & Kivipelto, M. (2021). Dementia risk scores and their role in the implementation of risk reduction guidelines. *Frontiers in Neurology*, 12, 765454. https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2021.765454
- Barnes, D. E., Beiser, A. S., Lee, A., Langa, K. M., Koyama, A., Preis, S. R., Neuhaus, J., McCammon, R. J., Yaffe, K., Seshadri, S., Haan, M. N., & Weir, D. R. (2014). Development and validation of a brief dementia screening indicator for primary care. *Alzheimer's & Dementia: The Journal of the Alzheimer's Association*, 10(6), 656–665.e1. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2013.11.006
- Coley, R. Y., Smith, J. J., Karliner, L., Idu, A. E., Lee, S. J., Fuller, S., Lam, R., Barnes, D. E., & Dublin, S. (2023). External validation of the eRADAR risk score for detecting undiagnosed dementia in two real-world healthcare systems. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 38(2), 351–360. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-022-07736-6
- Dementia Friendly America. (n.d.). *Dementia friendly communities*. https://www.dfamerica.org/communities-overview
- Hou, X.-H., Feng, L., Zhang, C., Cao, X.-P., Tan, L., & Yu, J.-T. (2019). Models for predicting risk of dementia: a systematic review. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery, and Psychiatry*, *90*(4), 373–379. https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp-2018-318212

- National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. (2020). *Alzheimer's disease and related dementias: Experience and caregiving, epidemiology, and models of care*. National Academies Press. https://nap.nationalacademies.org/catalog/25694/alzheimers-disease-and-related-dementias-experience-and-caregiving-epidemiology-and-models-of-care
- National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. (n.d.). *Implementing high-quality primary care: Rebuilding the foundation of health care.* National Academies Press. https://doi.org/10.17226/25983
- Rajkomar, A., Hardt, M., Howell, M. D., Corrado, G., & Chin, M. H. (2018). Ensuring fairness in machine learning to advance health equity. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *169*(12), 866–872. https://doi.org/10.7326/M18-1990
- U.S. Preventive Services Task Force, Owens, D. K., Davidson, K. W., Krist, A. H., Barry, M. J., Cabana, M., Caughey, A. B., Doubeni, C. A., Epling, J. W., Jr, Kubik, M., Landefeld, C. S., Mangione, C. M., Pbert, L., Silverstein, M., Simon, M. A., Tseng, C.-W., & Wong, J. B. (2020). Screening for cognitive impairment in older adults: US Preventive Services Task Force Recommendation Statement. *JAMA: The Journal of the American Medical Association*, 323(8), 757–763. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2020.0435

Disparities in Diagnosis and Post-diagnosis Care

Emmanuel Fulgence Drabo, PhD, Johns Hopkins University

- Barthold, D., Joyce, G., Ferido, P., Drabo, E. F., Marcum, Z. A., Gray, S. L., & Zissimopoulos, J. (2020). Pharmaceutical treatment for Alzheimer's disease and related dementias: Utilization and disparities. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease: JAD*, *76*(2), 579–589. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-200133
- Browning, J. A., Tsang, C. C. S., Zeng, R., Dong, X., Garuccio, J., Wan, J. Y., Chisholm-Burns, M. A., Finch, C. K., Tsao, J. W., & Wang, J. (2022). Racial/ethnic disparities in the enrollment of Medication Therapy Management programs among Medicare beneficiaries with Alzheimer's disease and related dementias. *Current Medical Research and Opinion*, 38(10), 1715–1725. https://doi.org/10.1080/03007995.2022.2103962
- Drabo, E. F., Barthold, D., Joyce, G., Ferido, P., Chang Chui, H., & Zissimopoulos, J. (2019). Longitudinal analysis of dementia diagnosis and specialty care among racially diverse Medicare beneficiaries. *Alzheimer's & Dementia: The Journal of the Alzheimer's Association*, 15(11), 1402–1411. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2019.07.005
- Kornblith, E., Bahorik, A., Boscardin, W. J., Xia, F., Barnes, D. E., & Yaffe, K. (2022). Association of race and ethnicity with incidence of dementia among older adults. *JAMA: The Journal of the American Medical Association*, 327(15), 1488–1495. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2022.3550
- Lin, P.-J., Daly, A. T., Olchanski, N., Cohen, J. T., Neumann, P. J., Faul, J. D., Fillit, H. M., & Freund, K. M. (2021). Dementia diagnosis disparities by race and ethnicity. *Medical Care*, *59*(8), 679–686. https://doi.org/10.1097/MLR.00000000000001577

- Lin, P.-J., Zhu, Y., Olchanski, N., Cohen, J. T., Neumann, P. J., Faul, J. D., Fillit, H. M., & Freund, K. M. (2022). Racial and ethnic differences in hospice use and hospitalizations at end-of-life among medicare beneficiaries with dementia. *JAMA Network Open*, *5*(6), e2216260. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2022.16260
- Power, M. C., Bennett, E. E., Turner, R. W., Dowling, N. M., Ciarleglio, A., Glymour, M. M., & Gianattasio, K. Z. (2021). Trends in relative incidence and prevalence of dementia across non-hispanic black and white individuals in the United States, 2000-2016. *JAMA Neurology*, 78(3), 275–284. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaneurol.2020.4471
- Tsoy, E., Kiekhofer, R. E., Guterman, E. L., Tee, B. L., Windon, C. C., Dorsman, K. A., Lanata, S. C., Rabinovici, G. D., Miller, B. L., Kind, A. J. H., & Possin, K. L. (2021). Assessment of racial/ethnic disparities in timeliness and comprehensiveness of dementia diagnosis in California. *JAMA Neurology*, 78(6), 657–665. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaneurol.2021.0399
- U.S. Preventive Services Task Force, Owens, D. K., Davidson, K. W., Krist, A. H., Barry, M. J., Cabana, M., Caughey, A. B., Doubeni, C. A., Epling, J. W., Jr, Kubik, M., Landefeld, C. S., Mangione, C. M., Pbert, L., Silverstein, M., Simon, M. A., Tseng, C.-W., & Wong, J. B. (2020). Screening for cognitive impairment in older adults: US Preventive Services Task Force Recommendation Statement. *JAMA: The Journal of the American Medical Association*, 323(8), 757–763. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2020.0435
- Wright, C. B., DeRosa, J. T., Moon, M. P., Strobino, K., DeCarli, C., Cheung, Y. K., Assuras, S., Levin, B., Stern, Y., Sun, X., Rundek, T., Elkind, M. S. V., & Sacco, R. L. (2021). race/ethnic disparities in mild cognitive impairment and dementia: The Northern Manhattan Study. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease: JAD*, 80(3), 1129–1138. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-201370

Plenary Talk: Challenges and Best Practices for Development and Evaluation of Interventions for PLWD and Their Care Partners

Linda Collins, PhD, New York University

- Butler, M., Gaugler, J. E., Talley, K. M. C., Abdi, H. I., & Desai, P. J. (n.d.). *Care interventions for people living with dementia and their caregivers*. AHRQ Publication No. 20-EHC023. Agency for Healthcare.
- Cadio. (2022, May 12). Intervention Optimization Initiative. https://cadio.org/
- Chakraborty, B., Collins, L. M., Strecher, V. J., & Murphy, S. A. (2009). Developing multicomponent interventions using fractional factorial designs. *Statistics in Medicine*, 28(21), 2687–2708. https://doi.org/10.1002/sim.3643
- Collins, L. M. (2018). *Optimization of behavioral, biobehavioral, and biomedical interventions:*The Multiphase Optimization Strategy (MOST). Springer International Publishing.

 https://play.google.com/store/books/details?id=OfQrswEACAAJ

- Collins, L. M., Dziak, J. J., Kugler, K. C., & Trail, J. B. (2014). Factorial experiments: Efficient tools for evaluation of intervention components. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 47(4), 498–504. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2014.06.021
- Collins, L. M., Dziak, J. J., & Li, R. (2009). Design of experiments with multiple independent variables: As resource management perspective on complete and reduced factorial designs. *Psychological Methods*, *14*(3), 202–224. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0015826
- d3center. Data Science for Dynamic Intervention Decision-Making Center. https://d3c.isr.umich.edu/
- Spring, B., Pfammatter, A. F., Marchese, S. H., Stump, T., Pellegrini, C., McFadden, H. G., Hedeker, D., Siddique, J., Jordan, N., & Collins, L. M. (2020). A factorial experiment to optimize remotely delivered behavioral treatment for obesity: Results of the Opt-IN Study. *Obesity*, *28*(9), 1652–1662. https://doi.org/10.1002/oby.22915

Session 3: Dementia Care Models and Coordination of Care

- Co-Chairs: Katherine L. Possin, PhD, UCSF, and Marcel Salive, MD, MPH, NIA
- Callahan, C. M., Tu, W., Unroe, K. T., LaMantia, M. A., Stump, T. E., & Clark, D. O. (2015).

 Transitions in care in a nationally representative sample of older americans with dementia. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 63(8), 1495–1502.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.13540
- Guterman, E. L., Allen, I. E., Josephson, S. A., Merrilees, J. J., Dulaney, S., Chiong, W., Lee, K., Bonasera, S. J., Miller, B. L., & Possin, K. L. (2019). Association between caregiver depression and emergency department use among patients with dementia. *JAMA Neurology*, 76(10), 1166–1173. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaneurol.2019.1820
- Hunt, L. J., Coombs, L. A., & Stephens, C. E. (2018). Emergency department use by community-dwelling individuals with dementia in the United States: An integrative review. *Journal of Gerontological Nursing*, 44(3), 23–30. https://doi.org/10.3928/00989134-20171206-01
- Maust, D. T., Kim, H. M., Seyfried, L. S., Chiang, C., Kavanagh, J., Schneider, L. S., & Kales, H. C. (2015). Antipsychotics, other psychotropics, and the risk of death in patients with dementia: number needed to harm. *JAMA Psychiatry*, 72(5), 438–445. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2014.3018
- Mitchell, S. L., Teno, J. M., Kiely, D. K., Shaffer, M. L., Jones, R. N., Prigerson, H. G., Volicer, L., Givens, J. L., & Hamel, M. B. (2009). The clinical course of advanced dementia. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, *361*(16), 1529–1538. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa0902234
- National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. (2021). *Meeting the challenge of caring for persons living with dementia and their care partners and caregivers: A way forward*. National Academies Press.

- Schneider, K. M., O'Donnell, B. E., & Dean, D. (2009). Prevalence of multiple chronic conditions in the United States' Medicare population. *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes*, 7, 82. https://doi.org/10.1186/1477-7525-7-82
- Sullivan, S. S., Li, C.-S., de Rosa, C., & Chang, Y.-P. (2022). Development of a longitudinal dataset of persons with dementia and their caregivers through end-of-life: A Statistical Analysis System algorithm for joining National Health and Aging Trends Study/National Study of caregiving. *The American Journal of Hospice & Palliative Care*, *39*(9), 1052–1060. https://doi.org/10.1177/10499091211057291
- Zhu, C. W., Cosentino, S., Ornstein, K., Gu, Y., Andrews, H., & Stern, Y. (2015). Use and cost of hospitalization in dementia: Longitudinal results from a community-based study. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 30(8), 833–841. https://doi.org/10.1002/gps.4222

The NASEM Report: Rationale, Illustrative Findings and Expectations of a Way Forward Eric B. Larson, MD, MPH, University of Washington

National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. (2021). *Meeting the challenge of caring for persons living with dementia and their care partners and caregivers: A way forward*. National Academies Press.

The Vanguard of Comprehensive Dementia Care: Much Done, Much More to Do David B. Reuben, MD, University of California, Los Angeles

- Boustani, M., Alder, C. A., Solid, C. A., & Reuben, D. (2019). An alternative payment model to support widespread use of collaborative dementia care models. *Health Affairs*, 38(1), 54–59. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2018.05154
- Lees Haggerty, K., Epstein-Lubow, G., Spragens, L. H., Stoeckle, R. J., Evertson, L. C., Jennings, L. A., & Reuben, D. B. (2020). Recommendations to improve payment policies for comprehensive dementia care. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 68(11), 2478–2485. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.16807

Dementia in the Acute Setting: Expanding and Improving Care *Ula Hwang, MD, MPH, Yale University*

- Carpenter, C. R., Dresden, S. M., Shah, M. N., & Hwang, U. (2022). Adapting emergency care for persons living with dementia: Results of the Geriatric Emergency Care Applied Research Network Scoping Review and Consensus Conference. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association*, 23(8), 1286–1287. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jamda.2022.05.016
- Carpenter, C. R., Leggett, J., Bellolio, F., Betz, M., Carnahan, R. M., Carr, D., Doering, M., Hansen, J. C., Isaacs, E. D., Jobe, D., Kelly, K., Morrow-Howell, N., Prusaczyk, B., Savage, B., Suyama, J., Vann, A. S., Rising, K. L., Hwang, U., Shah, M. N., & GEAR 2.0-ADC Network. (2022). Emergency department communication in persons living with dementia and care partners: A scoping review. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association*, *23*(8), 1313.e15–e1313.e46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jamda.2022.02.024

- Dresden, S. M., Taylor, Z., Serina, P., Kennedy, M., Wescott, A. B., Hogan, T., Shah, M. N., Hwang, U., & GEAR 2.0-ADC Network. (2022). Optimal emergency department care practices for persons living with dementia: A scoping review. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association*, 23(8), 1314.e1–e1314.e29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jamda.2022.05.024
- GEAR. (n.d.) *GEAR network geriatric emergency care applied research standardization study*. https://gearnetwork.org/
- Gettel, C. J., Falvey, J. R., Gifford, A., Hoang, L., Christensen, L. A., Hwang, U., Shah, M. N., & GEAR 2.0-ADC Network. (2022). Emergency department care transitions for patients with cognitive impairment: A scoping review. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association*, 23(8), 1313.e1–e1313.e13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jamda.2022.01.076
- Hustey, F. M., Meldon, S. W., Smith, M. D., & Lex, C. K. (2003). The effect of mental status screening on the care of elderly emergency department patients. *Annals of Emergency Medicine*, *41*(5), 678–684. https://doi.org/10.1067/mem.2003.152
- LaMantia, M. A., Stump, T. E., Messina, F. C., Miller, D. K., & Callahan, C. M. (2016). Emergency department use among older adults with dementia. *Alzheimer Disease and Associated Disorders*, 30(1), 35–40. https://doi.org/10.1097/WAD.0000000000000118
- Naughton, B. J., Moran, M. B., Kadah, H., Heman-Ackah, Y., & Longano, J. (1995). Delirium and other cognitive impairment in older adults in an emergency department. *Annals of Emergency Medicine*, 25(6), 751–755. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0196-0644(95)70202-4
- Nowroozpoor, A., Dussetschleger, J., Perry, W., Sano, M., Aloysi, A., Belleville, M., Brackett, A., Hirshon, J. M., Hung, W., Moccia, J. M., Ohuabunwa, U., Shah, M. N., Hwang, U., & GEAR 2.0-ADC Network. (2022). Detecting cognitive impairment and dementia in the emergency department: A scoping review. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association*, 23(8), 1314.e31–e1314.e88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jamda.2022.03.019

It's About the Who and the Where: The Role of Person and Place in Access and Quality of Care

Shekinah Fashaw-Walters, PhD, University of Minnesota

Cornell, P. Y., Zhang, W., Smith, L., Fashaw, S., & Thomas, K. S. (2020). Developments in the market for assisted living: Residential care availability in 2017. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association*, 21(11), 1718–1723. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jamda.2020.08.011

Evidence of Health Information Technology and Reduced Health Disparities in Dementia Care *Jie Chen, PhD, University of Maryland*

Chen, J., Spencer, M. R. T., & Buchongo, P. (2022). Strengthening the public health partnership and telehealth infrastructure to reduce health care disparities. *Population Health Management*, 25(6), 814–821. https://doi.org/10.1089/pop.2022.0166

- Chen, J., Spencer, M. R. T., Buchongo, P., & Wang, M. Q. (2023). Hospital-based health information technology infrastructure: Evidence of reduced Medicare payments and racial disparities among patients with ADRD. *Medical Care*, *61*(1), 27–35. https://doi.org/10.1097/MLR.000000000001794
- Lindauer, A., Seelye, A., Lyons, B., Dodge, H. H., Mattek, N., Mincks, K., Kaye, J., & Erten-Lyons, D. (2017). Dementia care comes home: Patient and caregiver assessment via telemedicine. *The Gerontologist*, *57*(5), e85–e93. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnw206
- Maguire, T. K., Yoon, S., & Chen, J. (2023). Collaborating for COVID-19: Hospital health information exchange and public health partnership. *Telemedicine Journal and E-Health: The Official Journal of the American Telemedicine Association*. https://doi.org/10.1089/tmj.2023.0056
- O'Connor, R. C., Wetherall, K., Cleare, S., McClelland, H., Melson, A. J., Niedzwiedz, C. L., O'Carroll, R. E., O'Connor, D. B., Platt, S., Scowcroft, E., Watson, B., Zortea, T., Ferguson, E., & Robb, K. A. (2021). Mental health and well-being during the COVID-19 pandemic: longitudinal analyses of adults in the UK COVID-19 Mental Health & Wellbeing study. *The British Journal of Psychiatry: The Journal of Mental Science*, 218(6), 326–333. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.2020.212
- Wang, N., Albaroudi, A., Benjenk, I., & Chen, J. (2021). Exploring hospital-based health information technology functions for patients with Alzheimer's Disease and related Dementias. *Preventive Medicine Reports*, 23, 101459. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmedr.2021.101459
- Wang, N., Buchongo, P., & Chen, J. (2022). Rural and urban disparities in potentially preventable hospitalizations among US patients with Alzheimer's disease and related dementias: Evidence of hospital-based telehealth and enabling services. *Preventive Medicine*, 163(107223), 107223. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2022.107223

Health Care and Insurance Policies Affecting Care Use and Quality Norma B. Coe, PhD, University of Pennsylvania

- Barthold, D., Joyce, G., Ferido, P., Drabo, E. F., Marcum, Z. A., Gray, S. L., & Zissimopoulos, J. (2020). Pharmaceutical treatment for Alzheimer's disease and related dementias: Utilization and disparities. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease: JAD*, *76*(2), 579–589. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-200133
- Dhingra, L., Lipson, K., Dieckmann, N. F., Chen, J., Bookbinder, M., & Portenoy, R. (2019). Institutional special needs plans and hospice enrollment in nursing homes: A national analysis. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, *67*(12), 2537–2544. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.16103
- Fabius, C. D., Okoye, S. M., Mulcahy, J., Burgdorf, J. G., & Wolff, J. L. (2022). Associations between use of paid help and care experiences among Medicare-Medicaid enrolled older adults with and without dementia. *The Journals of Gerontology. Series B, Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 77(12), e216–e225. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbac072

- Henkel, P. J., & Marvanova, M. (2018). Rural disparities in Alzheimer's disease-related community pharmacy care in the United States. *The Journal of Rural Health: Official Journal of the American Rural Health Association and the National Rural Health Care Association*, 34(4), 347–358. https://doi.org/10.1111/jrh.12279
- Kim, H., Senders, A., Simeon, E., Juarez, C., Huang, S., Dodge, H., & McConnell, K. J. (2023). Use of long-term services and supports among dual-eligible beneficiaries with Alzheimer's disease and related dementias. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 71(2), 432–442. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.18115
- Konetzka, R. T., Jung, D. H., Gorges, R. J., & Sanghavi, P. (2020). Outcomes of Medicaid homeand community-based long-term services relative to nursing home care among dual eligibles. *Health Services Research*, *55*(6), 973–982. https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-6773.13573
- Lee, C. R., Taggert, E., Coe, N. B., & Chatterjee, P. (2023). Patient Experience at US Hospitals following the Caregiver Advise, Record, Enable (CARE) Act. *JAMA Network Open*, *6*(5), e2311253. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2023.11253
- Lu, Z. K., Xiong, X., Wang, X., & Wu, J. (2021). Gender disparities in anti-dementia medication use among older adults: Health equity considerations and management of Alzheimer's disease and related dementias. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, 12, 706762. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2021.706762
- Meyers, D. J., Mor, V., Rahman, M., & Trivedi, A. N. (2021). Growth In Medicare Advantage greatest among Black and Hispanic enrollees. *Health Affairs*, *40*(6), 945–950. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2021.00118
- Meyers, D. J., Rahman, M., Rivera-Hernandez, M., Trivedi, A. N., & Mor, V. (2021). Plan switching among Medicare Advantage beneficiaries with Alzheimer's disease and other dementias. *Alzheimer's & Dementia: The Journal of the Alzheimer's Association*, 7(1), e12150. https://doi.org/10.1002/trc2.12150
- Park, S., Langellier, B. A., & Meyers, D. J. (2022). Association of health insurance literacy with enrollment in traditional Medicare, Medicare Advantage, and plan characteristics within Medicare Advantage. *JAMA Network Open*, 5(2), e2146792. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.46792
- Park, S., Teno, J. M., White, L., & Coe, N. B. (2023). Association of Medicare Advantage star ratings with patterns of end-of-life care. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 71(1), 279–282. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.18022
- Pizzi, L. T., Jutkowitz, E., Prioli, K. M., Lu, E. Y., Babcock, Z., McAbee-Sevick, H., Wakefield, D. B., Robison, J., Molony, S., Piersol, C. V., Gitlin, L. N., & Fortinsky, R. H. (2022). Cost-benefit analysis of the COPE Program for persons living with dementia: Toward a payment model. *Innovation in Aging*, 6(1), igab042. https://doi.org/10.1093/geroni/igab042
- Rivera-Hernandez, M., Kumar, A., Epstein-Lubow, G., & Thomas, K. S. (2019). Disparities in nursing home use and quality among African American, Hispanic, and White Medicare

- residents with Alzheimer's disease and related dementias. *Journal of Aging and Health,* 31(7), 1259–1277. https://doi.org/10.1177/0898264318767778
- Roth, C. P., Ganz, D. A., Nickles, L., Martin, D., Beckman, R., & Wenger, N. S. (2012). Nurse care manager contribution to quality of care in a dual-eligible special needs plan. *Journal of Gerontological Nursing*, *38*(7), 44–54. https://doi.org/10.3928/00989134-20120606-10
- Teno, J. M., Keohane, L. M., Mitchell, S. L., Meyers, D. J., Bunker, J. N., Belanger, E., Gozalo, P. L., & Trivedi, A. N. (2021). Dying with dementia in Medicare Advantage, Accountable Care Organizations, or traditional Medicare. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 69(10), 2802–2810. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.17225
- Van Cleve, R., & Degenholtz, H. B. (2022). Patterns of home and community based service use by beneficiaries enrolled in the Pennsylvania Medicaid Aging Waiver. *Journal of Applied Gerontology: The Official Journal of the Southern Gerontological Society*, 41(8), 1870–1877. https://doi.org/10.1177/07334648221094578
- Yan, D., Wang, S., Temkin-Greener, H., & Cai, S. (2021). The use patterns of Medicaid home and community based services among Medicare/Medicaid beneficiaries with dementia. Frontiers in Public Health, 9, 708402. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2021.708402

Session 5: Support for Care Partners and Caregivers

Co-Chairs: Kenneth W. Hepburn, PhD, Emory University, and Liz Necka, PhD, NIA

- Alzheimer's Association. (2022). 2022 Alzheimer's disease facts and figures. *Alzheimer's & Dementia: The Journal of the Alzheimer's Association*, 18(4), 700–789. https://doi.org/10.1002/alz.12638
- Burgdorf, J., Roth, D. L., Riffin, C., & Wolff, J. L. (2019). Factors associated with receipt of training among caregivers of older adults. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, *179*(6), 833–835. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2018.8694
- Travers, J. L., Rosa, W. E., Shenoy, S., Bergh, M., & Fabius, C. D. (2023). Characterizing caregiving supportive services use by caregiving relationship status. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 71(5), 1566–1572. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.18213

Informal Dementia Care: Context Matters

Karen A. Roberto, PhD, Virginia Tech

- Babitsch, B., Gohl, D., & von Lengerke, T. (2012). Re-revisiting Andersen's Behavioral Model of Health Services Use: A systematic review of studies from 1998-2011. *Psycho-Social Medicine*, 9, Doc11. https://doi.org/10.3205/psm000089
- Krout, J. A., & Hash, K. M. (2015). What is rural? Introduction to aging in rural places. *Aging in Rural Places: Programs, Policies, and Professional Practice*, 3–22.
- National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. (2020). *Integrating social care into the delivery of health care: Moving upstream to improve the nation's health*. National Academies Press. https://doi.org/10.17226/25467

- National Alliance for Caregiving, & AARP. (2020). *Caregiving in the U.S. 2020*. AARP. https://doi.org/10.26419/ppi.00103.001
- Roberto, K. A., & Savla, J. (2022). Extended family caregivers for persons living with dementia. *Journal of Family Nursing*, 28(4), 396–407. https://doi.org/10.1177/10748407221115455
- Roberto, K. A., Savla, J., McCann, B. R., Blieszner, R., & Knight, A. L. (2022). Dementia family caregiving in rural Appalachia: A sociocultural model of care decisions and service use. *The Journals of Gerontology. Series B, Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 77(6), 1094–1104. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbab236
- Savla, J., Bivens, L. R., Roberto, K. A., & Blieszner, R. (2019). Where you age matters: Individual-and county-level predictors of formal and informal care in rural Appalachia. *Journal of Aging and Health*, 31(5), 837–860. https://doi.org/10.1177/0898264318761907
- Spillman, B. C., Freedman, V. A., Kasper, J. D., & Wolff, J. L. (2020). Change OVER TIME IN CAREGIVING NETWORKS FOR OLDER ADULTS WITH AND WITHOUT Dementia. *The Journals of Gerontology. Series B, Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 75(7), 1563–1572. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbz065
- Spillman, B. C., Wolff, J., Freedman, V. A., & Kasper, J. D. (2014). *Informal caregiving for older Americans: An snalysis of the 2011 National Study of Caregiving*. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation.
- Vipperman, A., Savla, J., Roberto, K. A., & Burns, D. (2022). Barriers to service use among dementia family caregivers in rural Appalachia: Implications for reducing caregiver overload. *Prevention Science: The Official Journal of the Society for Prevention Research*, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11121-022-01479-w
- Wolff, J. L., Spillman, B. C., Freedman, V. A., & Kasper, J. D. (2016). A national profile of family and unpaid caregivers who assist older adults with health care activities. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, *176*(3), 372–379. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2015.7664

The Sooner the Better: Implementation Considerations When Initiating Intervention Development

Joseph E. Gaugler, PhD, University of Minnesota

- Collins, L. M., & Kugler, K. C. (2018). *Optimization of behavioral, biobehavioral, and biomedical interventions: Advanced topics*. Springer.
- Curran, G. M., Bauer, M., Mittman, B., Pyne, J. M., & Stetler, C. (2012). Effectiveness-implementation hybrid designs: combining elements of clinical effectiveness and implementation research to enhance public health impact. *Medical Care*, *50*(3), 217–226. https://doi.org/10.1097/MLR.0b013e3182408812
- Curran, G. M., Landes, S. J., McBain, S. A., Pyne, J. M., Smith, J. D., Fernandez, M. E., Chambers, D. A., & Mittman, B. S. (2022). Reflections on 10 years of effectiveness-implementation hybrid studies. *Frontiers of Health Services Management*, *2*, 1053496. https://doi.org/10.3389/frhs.2022.1053496

- De Geest, S., Zúñiga, F., Brunkert, T., Deschodt, M., Zullig, L. L., Wyss, K., & Utzinger, J. (2020). Powering Swiss health care for the future: Implementation science to bridge "the valley of death." *Swiss Medical Weekly*, *150*(3738), w20323–w20323. https://www.smw.ch/index.php/smw/article/download/2871/4690
- Kilbourne, A. M., Glasgow, R. E., & Chambers, D. A. (2020). What can implementation science do for you? Key success stories from the field. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 35(Suppl 2), 783–787. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-020-06174-6
- Onken, L. (2022). Implementation science at the National Institute on Aging: The principles of it. *Public Policy & Aging Report*, 32(1), 39–41. https://doi.org/10.1093/ppar/prab034
- Rolland, B., Resnik, F., Hohl, S. D., Johnson, L. J., Saha-Muldowney, M., & Mahoney, J. (2021). Applying the lessons of implementation science to maximize feasibility and usability in team science intervention development. *Journal of Clinical and Translational Science*, *5*(1), e197. https://doi.org/10.1017/cts.2021.826
- Wiltsey Stirman, S., Baumann, A. A., & Miller, C. J. (2019). The FRAME: An expanded framework for reporting adaptations and modifications to evidence-based interventions.

 Implementation Science: IS, 14(1), 58. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13012-019-0898-y

Expanding Policy Supports to Promote Caregiver Resilience and Well-Being *Courtney Van Houtven, PhD, Duke University*

- Administration for Community Living. (2018). *National family caregiver support program:*Getting behind our nation's families. https://acl.gov/programs/support-program

 caregivers/national-family-caregiver-support-program
- Bauer, J. M., & Sousa-Poza, A. (2015). Impacts of informal caregiving on caregiver employment, health, and family. *Journal of Population Ageing*, 8(3), 113–145. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12062-015-9116-0
- Brown, J. R., Goda, G. S., & McGarry, K. (2012). Long-term care insurance demand limited by beliefs about needs, concerns about insurers, and care available from family. *Health Affairs*, *31*(6), 1294–1302. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2011.1307
- Broyles, I. H., Sperber, N. R., Voils, C. I., Konetzka, R. T., Coe, N. B., & Van Houtven, C. H. (2016). Understanding the context for long-term care planning. *Medical Care Research and Review: MCRR*, 73(3), 349–368. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077558715614480
- Burgdorf, J., Mulcahy, J., Amjad, H., Kasper, J. D., Covinsky, K., & Wolff, J. L. (2019). Family caregiver factors associated with emergency department utilization among community-living older adults with disabilities. *Journal of Primary Care & Community Health*, 10, 2150132719875636. https://doi.org/10.1177/2150132719875636
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, et al. (2020). *Caregiving for family and friends—a public health issue*. https://www.cdc.gov/aging/caregiving/caregiver-brief.html

- Coe, N. B., Guo, J., Konetzka, R. T., & Van Houtven, C. H. (2019). What is the marginal benefit of payment-induced family care? Impact on Medicaid spending and health of care recipients. Health Economics, 28(5), 678–692. https://doi.org/10.1002/hec.3873
- Coe, N. B., Konetzka, R. T., Berkowitz, M., Blecker, E., & Van Houtven, C. H. (2021). The effects of home care provider mix on the care recipient: An international, systematic review of articles from 2000 to 2020. *Annual Review of Public Health*, 42, 483–503. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-publhealth-090419-102354
- Coe, N. B., Skira, M. M., & Larson, E. B. (2018). A comprehensive measure of the costs of caring for a parent: Differences according to functional status. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 66(10), 2003–2008. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.15552
- Cohen, S. A., Ahmed, N., Brown, M. J., Meucci, M. R., & Greaney, M. L. (2022). Rural-urban differences in informal caregiving and health-related quality of life. *The Journal of Rural Health: Official Journal of the American Rural Health Association and the National Rural Health Care Association*, 38(2), 442–456. https://doi.org/10.1111/jrh.12581
- Cohen, S. A., Nash, C. C., & Greaney, M. L. (2021). Informal caregiving during the COVID-19 pandemic in the US: Background, challenges, and opportunities. *American Journal of Health Promotion: AJHP*, *35*(7), 1032–1036. https://doi.org/10.1177/08901171211030142c
- Dionne-Odom, J. N., Azuero, A., Taylor, R. A., Dosse, C., Bechthold, A. C., Currie, E., Reed, R. D., Harrell, E. R., Engler, S., Ejem, D. B., Ivankova, N. V., Martin, M. Y., Rocque, G. B., Williams, G. R., & Bakitas, M. A. (2022). A lay navigator-led, early palliative care intervention for African American and rural family caregivers of individuals with advanced cancer (Project Cornerstone): Results of a pilot randomized trial. *Cancer*, *128*(6), 1321–1330. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.34044
- Fabius, C. D., Wolff, J. L., & Kasper, J. D. (2020). Race differences in characteristics and experiences of Black and White caregivers of older Americans. *The Gerontologist*, 60(7), 1244–1253. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnaa042
- Fee, E., & Brown, T. M. (2002). The unfulfilled promise of public health: Déjà vu all over again. Health Affairs, 21(6), 31–43. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.21.6.31
- Kolodziej, I. W. K., Coe, N. B., & Van Houtven, C. H. (2022). The impact of care intensity and work on the mental health of family caregivers: Losses and gains. *The Journals of Gerontology. Series B, Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 77(Suppl 1), S98–S111. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbac031
- Longacre, M. L., Miller, M. F., & Fang, C. Y. (2021). Racial and ethnic variations in caregiving-related physical, emotional, and financial strain during COVID-19 among those caring for adult cancer patients. Supportive Care in Cancer: Official Journal of the Multinational Association of Supportive Care in Cancer, 29(7), 4137–4146. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00520-020-05933-9
- Lusardi, A., & Mitchell, O. S. (2014). The economic importance of financial literacy: Theory and evidence. *Journal of Economic Literature*, *52*(1), 5–44. https://doi.org/10.1257/jel.52.1.5

- Ma, J. E., Grubber, J., Coffman, C. J., Wang, V., Hastings, S. N., Allen, K. D., Shepherd-Banigan, M., Decosimo, K., Dadolf, J., Sullivan, C., Sperber, N. R., & Van Houtven, C. H. (2022). Identifying family and unpaid caregivers in electronic health records: Descriptive analysis. *JMIR Formative Research*, 6(7), e35623. https://doi.org/10.2196/35623
- Miller, K. E. M., Stearns, S. C., VAN Houtven, C. H., Gilleskie, D., Holmes, G. M., & Kent, E. E. (2022). The landscape of state policies supporting family caregivers as aligned with the National Academy of Medicine recommendations. *The Milbank Quarterly*, *100*(3), 854–878. https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-0009.12567
- Miller, K. E. M., Van Houtven, C. H., Smith, V. A., Lindquist, J. H., Gray, K., Richardson, C., & Shepherd-Banigan, M. (2022). Family caregivers of veterans experience clinically significant levels of distress prepandemic and during pandemic: Implications for caregiver support services. *Medical Care*, 60(7), 530–537. https://doi.org/10.1097/MLR.00000000000000001726
- Moon, H. E., Haley, W. E., Rote, S. M., & Sears, J. S. (2020). Caregiver well-being and burden: Variations by race/ethnicity and care recipient nativity status. *Innovation in Aging*, 4(6), igaa045. https://doi.org/10.1093/geroni/igaa045
- Nadash, P. (2022). The RAISE Family Caregiver Advisory Council: Strategies to bolster caregivers' financial security. *Innovation in Aging*, *6*(Suppl 1), 284–284. https://doi.org/10.1093/geroni/igac059.1130
- National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. (2019). *Integrating health care and social services for people with serious illness: Proceedings of a workshop*. National Academies Press. https://doi.org/10.17226/25350
- Proctor, E. K., Landsverk, J., Aarons, G., Chambers, D., Glisson, C., & Mittman, B. (2009). Implementation research in mental health services: an emerging science with conceptual, methodological, and training challenges. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health*, *36*(1), 24–34. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10488-008-0197-4
- Proctor, E., Silmere, H., Raghavan, R., Hovmand, P., Aarons, G., Bunger, A., Griffey, R., & Hensley, M. (2011). Outcomes for implementation research: Conceptual distinctions, measurement challenges, and research agenda. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health*, *38*(2), 65–76. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10488-010-0319-7
- Riffin, C., Griffin, J. M., Brody, L., Wolff, J. L., Pillemer, K. A., Adelman, R. D., Bangerter, L. R., Starks, S. M., Falzarano, F., Villanigro-Santiago, M., Veney, L., & Czaja, S. J. (2022). Engaging and supporting care partners of persons with dementia in health-care delivery: Results from a national consensus conference. *The Public Policy and Aging Report*, *32*(2), 58–65. https://doi.org/10.1093/ppar/prac004
- South, E., Venkataramani, A., & Dalembert, G. (2022). Building Black wealth—The role of health systems in closing the gap. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, *387*(9), 844–849. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMms2209521
- Sperber, N. R., Voils, C. I., Coe, N. B., Konetzka, R. T., Boles, J., & Van Houtven, C. H. (2017). How can adult children influence parents' long-term care insurance purchase decisions? *The Gerontologist*, *57*(2), 292–299. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnu082

- Stevens, L. F., Pickett, T. C., Wilder Schaaf, K. P., Taylor, B. C., Gravely, A., Van Houtven, C. H., Friedemann-Sánchez, G., & Griffin, J. M. (2015). The relationship between training and mental health among caregivers of individuals with polytrauma. *Behavioural Neurology*, 2015, 185941. https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/185941
- Truskinovsky, Y., Finlay, J. M., & Kobayashi, L. C. (2022). Caregiving in a pandemic: COVID-19 and the well-being of family caregivers 55+ in the United States. *Medical Care Research and Review: MCRR*, 79(5), 663–675. https://doi.org/10.1177/10775587211062405
- Truskinovsky, Y., & Maestas, N. (2018). Caregiving and labor force participation: New evidence from the American Time Use Survey. *Innovation in Aging*, 2(Suppl 1), 580–580. https://doi.org/10.1093/geroni/igy023.2149
- Van Houtven, C. H. (2010). *Effect of informal care on work, wages and health*. Center for Retirement Research at Boston College.
- Van Houtven, C. H., Konetzka, R. T., Taggert, E., & Coe, N. B. (2020). Informal AND FORMAL HOME CARE FOR OLDER ADULTS WITH DISABILITIES INCREased, 2004-16. *Health Affairs*, 39(8), 1297–1301. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2019.01800
- Van Houtven, C. H., Thorpe, J. M., Chestnutt, D., Molloy, M., Boling, J. C., & Davis, L. L. (2013). Do nurse-led skill training interventions affect informal caregivers' out-of-pocket expenditures? *The Gerontologist*, *53*(1), 60–70. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gns045
- Van Houtven, C. H., Voils, C. I., & Weinberger, M. (2011). An organizing framework for informal caregiver interventions: detailing caregiving activities and caregiver and care recipient outcomes to optimize evaluation efforts. *BMC Geriatrics*, *11*, 77. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2318-11-77
- Wolff, J. L., Drabo, E. F., & Van Houtven, C. H. (2019). Beyond parental leave: Paid family leave for an aging America. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, *67*(7), 1322–1324. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.15873

Session 6: Dementia Care Workforce

Setting the Stage: What We Know (and Don't Know) About the Dementia Care Workforce Bianca K. Frogner, PhD, University of Washington

- Center for Health Workforce Studies, University of Washington. (n.d.). Comparing the socioeconomic well-being of workers across healthcare occupations.

 https://familymedicine.uw.edu/chws/publications/comparing-the-socioeconomic-well-being-of-workers-across-healthcare-occupations/
- Frogner, B. K., & Dill, J. S. (2022). Tracking turnover among health care workers during the COVID-19 pandemic: A cross-sectional study. *JAMA Health Forum*, *3*(4), e220371. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamahealthforum.2022.0371
- Frogner, B. K., Spetz, J., Parente, S. T., & Oberlin, S. (2015). The demand for health care workers post-ACA. *International Journal of Health Economics and Management*, 15(1), 139–151.

Challenges for the Nursing Home Direct Care Workforce and the Way Forward Jasmine L. Travers, PhD, RN, New York University

- Espinoza, R. (n.d.). competitive disadvantage: direct care wages are lagging behind. PHI. https://www.phinational.org/resource/competitive-disadvantage-direct-care-wages-are-lagging-behind/
- McKnight's Long-Term Care News. (n.d.). Haymarket Media, Incorporated.
- National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. (2022). *The national imperative to improve nursing home quality: Honoring our commitment to residents, families, and staff.*National Academies Press. https://doi.org/10.17226/26526
- U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2023, April 4). *Nursing assistants and orderlies*. https://www.bls.gov/ooh/healthcare/nursing-assistants.htm

The Direct Care Workforce in Home-Based Dementia Care: Opportunities to Improve Care Jennifer Reckrey, MD, Mount Sinai

- Administration for Community Living. (n.d.) 2022 national strategy to support family caregivers. https://acl.gov/CaregiverStrategy
- Burgdorf, J. G., Amjad, H., & Bowles, K. H. (2022). Cognitive impairment associated with greater care intensity during home health care. *Alzheimer's & Dementia: The Journal of the Alzheimer's Association*, 18(6), 1100–1108. https://doi.org/10.1002/alz.12438
- Cross, S. H., Kaufman, B. G., Taylor, D. H., Jr, Kamal, A. H., & Warraich, H. J. (2020). Trends and factors associated with place of death for individuals with dementia in the United States. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 68(2), 250–255.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.16200
- Franzosa, E., Tsui, E. K., & Baron, S. (2019). "Who's caring for us?": Understanding and addressing the effects of emotional labor on home health aides' well-being. *The Gerontologist*, 59(6), 1055–1064. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gny099
- Haex, R., Thoma-Lürken, T., Zwakhalen, S., & Beurskens, A. (2020). The needs of key-stakeholders for evaluating client's experienced quality of home care: A qualitative approach. *Journal of Patient-Reported Outcomes*, *4*(1), 96. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41687-020-00260-3
- Harris-Kojetin, L. D., Sengupta, M., Lendon, J. P., Rome, V., Valverde, R., & Caffrey, C. (2019). Long-term care providers and services users in the United States, 2015-2016. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. https://stacks.cdc.gov/view/cdc/76253

- Landers, S., Madigan, E., Leff, B., Rosati, R. J., McCann, B. A., Hornbake, R., MacMillan, R., Jones, K., Bowles, K., Dowding, D., Lee, T., Moorhead, T., Rodriguez, S., & Breese, E. (2016). The future of home health care: A strategic framework for optimizing value. *Home Health Care Management & Practice*, 28(4), 262–278. https://doi.org/10.1177/1084822316666368
- Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation. (n.d.). *An overview of long-term services and supports and Medicaid: Final report*. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. https://aspe.hhs.gov/reports/overview-long-term-services-supports-medicaid-final-report
- Ornstein, K. A., Ankuda, C. K., Leff, B., Rajagopalan, S., Siu, A. L., Harrison, K. L., Oh, A., Reckrey, J. M., & Ritchie, C. S. (2022). Medicare-funded home-based clinical care for community-dwelling persons with dementia: An essential healthcare delivery mechanism. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 70(4), 1127–1135. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.17621
- Polacsek, M., Goh, A., Malta, S., Hallam, B., Gahan, L., Cooper, C., Low, L.-F., Livingston, G., Panayiotou, A., Loi, S., Omori, M., Savvas, S., Batchelor, F., Ames, D., Doyle, C., Scherer, S., & Dow, B. (2020). "I know they are not trained in dementia": Addressing the need for specialist dementia training for home care workers. *Health & Social Care in the Community*, 28(2), 475–484. https://doi.org/10.1111/hsc.12880
- Reckrey, J. M., Li, L., Zhan, S., Wolff, J., Yee, C., & Ornstein, K. A. (2022). Caring together: Trajectories of paid and family caregiving support to those living in the community with dementia. *The Journals of Gerontology. Series B, Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 77(Suppl 1), S11–S20. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbac006
- Reckrey, J. M., Morrison, R. S., Boerner, K., Szanton, S. L., Bollens-Lund, E., Leff, B., & Ornstein, K. A. (2020). Living in the community with dementia: Who receives paid care? *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 68(1), 186–191. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.16215
- Reckrey, J. M., Perez, S., Watman, D., Ornstein, K. A., Russell, D., & Franzosa, E. (2023). The need for stability in paid dementia care: Family caregiver perspectives. *Journal of Applied Gerontology: The Official Journal of the Southern Gerontological Society*, 42(4), 607–616. https://doi.org/10.1177/07334648221097692
- Reckrey, J. M., Tsui, E. K., Morrison, R. S., Geduldig, E. T., Stone, R. I., Ornstein, K. A., & Federman, A. D. (2019). Beyond functional support: The range of health-related tasks performed in the home by paid caregivers in New York. *Health Affairs*, *38*(6), 927–933. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2019.00004
- Reckrey, J. M., Watman, D., Tsui, E. K., Franzosa, E., Perez, S., Fabius, C. D., & Ornstein, K. A. (2022). "I am the home care agency": The dementia family caregiver experience managing paid care in the home. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19(3), 1311. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19031311
- Reckrey, J. M., Yang, M., Kinosian, B., Bollens-Lund, E., Leff, B., Ritchie, C., & Ornstein, K. (2020). Receipt of home-based medical care among older beneficiaries enrolled in fee-for-service Medicare. *Health Affairs*, 39(8), 1289–1296. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2019.01537

- Roche-Dean, M., Baik, S., Moon, H., Coe, N. B., Oh, A., & Zahodne, L. B. (2023). Paid care services and transitioning out of the community among Black and White older adults with dementia. *The Journals of Gerontology. Series B, Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences,* 78(Suppl 1), S91–S100. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbac117
- Samus, Q. M., Black, B. S., Bovenkamp, D., Buckley, M., Callahan, C., Davis, K., Gitlin, L. N., Hodgson, N., Johnston, D., Kales, H. C., Karel, M., Kenney, J. J., Ling, S. M., Panchal, M., Reuland, M., Willink, A., & Lyketsos, C. G. (2018). Home is where the future is: The BrightFocus Foundation consensus panel on dementia care. *Alzheimer's & Dementia: The Journal of the Alzheimer's Association*, *14*(1), 104–114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2017.10.006
- Smiley, R. A., Ruttinger, C., Oliveira, C. M., Hudson, L. R., Allgeyer, R., Reneau, K. A., Silvestre, J. H., & Alexander, M. (2021). The 2020 National Nursing Workforce Survey. *Journal of Nursing Regulation*, 12(Suppl 1), S1–S96. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2155-8256(21)00027-2
- Sterling, M. R., Silva, A. F., Leung, P. B. K., Shaw, A. L., Tsui, E. K., Jones, C. D., Robbins, L., Escamilla, Y., Lee, A., Wiggins, F., Sadler, F., Shapiro, M. F., Charlson, M. E., Kern, L. M., & Safford, M. M. (2018). "It's like they forget that the word 'health' is in 'home health aide'": Understanding the perspectives of home care workers who care for adults with heart failure. *Journal of the American Heart Association*, 7(23), e010134. https://doi.org/10.1161/JAHA.118.010134
- Stone, R. I., & Bryant, N. S. (2019). The future of the home care workforce: Training and supporting aides as members of home-based care teams. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, *67*(S2), S444–S448. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.15846
- Yao, N., Mutter, J. B., Berry, J. D., Yamanaka, T., Mohess, D. T., & Cornwell, T. (2021). In traditional Medicare, modest growth in the home care workforce largely driven by nurse practitioners. *Health Affairs*, 40(3), 478–486. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2020.00671

Session 7: Economic Impacts, Implications, and Approaches

Financial Decision Making, Cognitive Decline, and Alzheimer's Disease Duke Han, PhD, University of Southern California

- Boyle, P. A., Yu, L., Schneider, J. A., Wilson, R. S., & Bennett, D. A. (2019). Scam awareness related to incident Alzheimer dementia and mild cognitive impairment: A prospective cohort study. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *170*(10), 702–709. https://doi.org/10.7326/M18-2711
- Doescher, M. P., Saver, B. G., Franks, P., & Fiscella, K. (2000). Racial and ethnic disparities in perceptions of physician style and trust. *Archives of Family Medicine*, *9*(10), 1156–1163. https://doi.org/10.1001/archfami.9.10.1156
- Duke Han, S., Boyle, P. A., Yu, L., Arfanakis, K., James, B. D., Fleischman, D. A., & Bennett, D. A. (2016). Grey matter correlates of susceptibility to scams in community-dwelling older

- adults. *Brain Imaging and Behavior*, *10*(2), 524–532. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11682-015-9422-4
- Gauthier, S., Webster, C., Servaes, S., Morais, J. A., & Rosa-Neto, P. (2022). World Alzheimer Report 2022: Life after diagnosis: Navigating treatment, care and support.
- Ferguson, J. A., Weinberger, M., Westmoreland, G. R., Mamlin, L. A., Segar, D. S., Greene, J. Y., Martin, D. K., & Tierney, W. M. (1998). Racial disparity in cardiac decision making: Results from patient focus groups. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, *158*(13), 1450–1453. https://doi.org/10.1001/archinte.158.13.1450
- Fjell, A. M., Westlye, L. T., Amlien, I., Espeseth, T., Reinvang, I., Raz, N., Agartz, I., Salat, D. H., Greve, D. N., Fischl, B., Dale, A. M., & Walhovd, K. B. (2009). High consistency of regional cortical thinning in aging across multiple samples. *Cerebral Cortex*, *19*(9), 2001–2012. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhn232
- Gutter, M. S. (2013). Racial differences in risky asset ownership: A two-stage model of the investment decision-making process. SSRN.
- Han, S. D. (n.d.). Vulnerability to financial exploitation in older age: A neuropsychology perspective. *A Fresh Look at Fraud*. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003017189-7/vulnerability-financial-exploitation-older-age-duke-han
- Han, S. D., Barnes, L. L., Leurgans, S., Yu, L., Bennett, D. A., & Boyle, P. A. (2020). Literacy MEDIATES RACIAL DIFFERENCES IN FINANCIAL AND HEALTHCARE DECISION MAKING IN OLDER ADULTS. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 68(6), 1279–1285. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.16381
- Han, S. D., Boyle, P. A., James, B. D., Yu, L., Barnes, L. L., & Bennett, D. A. (2016). Discrepancies between cognition and decision making in older adults. *Aging Clinical and Experimental Research*, 28(1), 99–108. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40520-015-0375-7
- Han, S. D., Boyle, P. A., James, B. D., Yu, L., & Bennett, D. A. (2015). Mild cognitive impairment is associated with poorer decision-making in community-based older persons. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 63(4), 676–683. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.13346
- Isamah, N., Faison, W., Payne, M. E., MacFall, J., Steffens, D. C., Beyer, J. L., Krishnan, K. R., & Taylor, W. D. (2010). Variability in frontotemporal brain structure: The importance of recruitment of African Americans in neuroscience research. *PloS One*, *5*(10), e13642. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0013642
- Laibson, D. (2011). Comment on "Were they prepared for retirement? Financial status at advanced ages in the HRS and AHEAD cohorts." In *Investigations in the economics of aging* (pp. 69–75). University of Chicago Press. https://www.nber.org/system/files/chapters/c12430/c12430.pdf
- LaVeist, T. A. (2005). Disentangling race and socioeconomic status: A key to understanding health inequalities. *Journal of Urban Health: Bulletin of the New York Academy of Medicine, 82*(2 Suppl 3), iii26–iii34. https://doi.org/10.1093/jurban/jti061

- Nicholas, L. H., Langa, K. M., Bynum, J. P. W., & Hsu, J. W. (2021). Financial presentation of Alzheimer disease and related dementias. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, 181(2), 220–227. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2020.6432
- Roberto, K.A., & Teaster, P.B. (2011). The MetLife Study of Elder Financial Abuse: Crimes of occasion, desperation, and predation against america's elders.
- Salthouse, T. A., Habeck, C., Razlighi, Q., Barulli, D., Gazes, Y., & Stern, Y. (2015). Breadth and age-dependency of relations between cortical thickness and cognition. *Neurobiology of Aging*, *36*(11), 3020–3028. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiologing.2015.08.011
- Stewart, C. C., Yu, L., Wilson, R. S., Bennett, D. A., & Boyle, P. A. (2019). Healthcare and financial decision making and incident adverse cognitive outcomes among older adults. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, *67*(8), 1590–1595. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.15880
- True Link Financial. (2015). The True Link report on elder financial abuse 2015.
- Weissberger, G. H., Samek, A., Mosqueda, L., Nguyen, A. L., Lim, A. C., Fenton, L., & Han, S. D. (2022). Increased financial altruism is associated with Alzheimer's disease neurocognitive profile in older adults. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease: JAD, 88*(3), 995–1005. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-220187

Health Care Utilization Before and After a Dementia Diagnosis in Medicare Advantage (MA) and Traditional Medicare

Mireille Jacobson, PhD, University of Southern California

- Agarwal, R., Connolly, J., Gupta, S., & Navathe, A. S. (2021). Comparing Medicare Advantage and traditional Medicare: A systematic review. *Health Affairs*, *40*(6), 937–944. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2020.02149
- Beckman, A. L., Frakt, A. B., Duggan, C., Zheng, J., Orav, E. J., Tsai, T. C., & Figueroa, J. F. (2023). Evaluation of potentially avoidable acute care utilization among patients insured by Medicare Advantage vs traditional medicare. *JAMA Health Forum*, *4*(2), e225530. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamahealthforum.2022.5530
- Desai, U., Kirson, N. Y., Ye, W., Mehta, N. R., Wen, J., & Andrews, J. S. (2019). Trends in health service use and potentially avoidable hospitalizations before Alzheimer's disease diagnosis: A matched, retrospective study of US Medicare beneficiaries. *Alzheimer's & Dementia: Diagnosis, Assessment & Disease Monitoring*, 11, 125–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dadm.2018.12.005
- Freed, M., Biniek, J. F., Damico, A., & Neuman, T. (2022, August 25). *Medicare Advantage in 2022: Enrollment update and key trends*. KFF. https://www.kff.org/medicare/issue-brief/medicare-advantage-in-2022-enrollment-update-and-key-trends/
- Hoffman, G. J., Maust, D. T., Harris, M., Ha, J., & Davis, M. A. (2022). Medicare spending associated with a dementia diagnosis among older adults. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 70(9), 2592–2601. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.17835

- Jacobson, M., Thunell, J., & Zissimopoulos, J. (2020). Cognitive assessment at Medicare's annual wellness visit in fee-for-service and Medicare Advantage plans. *Health Affairs*, *39*(11), 1935–1942. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2019.01795
- Lin, P.-J., Fillit, H. M., Cohen, J. T., & Neumann, P. J. (2013). Potentially avoidable hospitalizations among Medicare beneficiaries with Alzheimer's disease and related disorders. *Alzheimer's & Dementia: The Journal of the Alzheimer's Association*, *9*(1), 30–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2012.11.002
- Lin, P.-J., Zhong, Y., Fillit, H. M., Chen, E., & Neumann, P. J. (2016). Medicare expenditures of individuals with Alzheimer's disease and related dementias or mild cognitive impairment before and after diagnosis. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, *64*(8), 1549–1557. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.14227
- Phelan, E. A., Borson, S., Grothaus, L., Balch, S., & Larson, E. B. (2012). Association of incident dementia with hospitalizations. *JAMA: The Journal of the American Medical Association*, 307(2), 165–172. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2011.1964

Costs and Cost-Effectiveness in Dementia Care

Peter J. Neumann, ScD, Tufts Medical Center

- Alzheimer's Association. (2022). 2022 Alzheimer's disease facts and figures. *Alzheimer's & Dementia: The Journal of the Alzheimer's Association*, 18(4), 700–789. https://doi.org/10.1002/alz.12638
- Green, C., Handels, R., Gustavsson, A., Wimo, A., Winblad, B., Sköldunger, A., & Jönsson, L. (2019). Assessing cost-effectiveness of early intervention in Alzheimer's disease: An open-source modeling framework. *Alzheimer's & Dementia: The Journal of the Alzheimer's Association*, 15(10), 1309–1321. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2019.05.004
- Gustavsson, A., Brinck, P., Bergvall, N., Kolasa, K., Wimo, A., Winblad, B., & Jönsson, L. (2011). Predictors of costs of care in Alzheimer's disease: A multinational sample of 1222 patients. *Alzheimer's & Dementia: The Journal of the Alzheimer's Association*, 7(3), 318–327. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2010.09.001
- Lin, P.-J., Daly, A. T., Olchanski, N., Cohen, J. T., Neumann, P. J., Faul, J. D., Fillit, H. M., & Freund, K. M. (2021). Dementia Diagnosis Disparities by Race and Ethnicity. *Medical Care*, *59*(8), 679–686. https://doi.org/10.1097/MLR.00000000000001577
- Lin, P.-J., Emerson, J., Faul, J. D., Cohen, J. T., Neumann, P. J., Fillit, H. M., Daly, A. T., Margaretos, N., & Freund, K. M. (2020). Racial and ethnic differences in knowledge about one's dementia status. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, *68*(8), 1763–1770. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.16442
- Lin, P.-J., Zhu, Y., Olchanski, N., Cohen, J. T., Neumann, P. J., Faul, J. D., Fillit, H. M., & Freund, K. M. (2022). Racial and ethnic differences in hospice use and hospitalizations at end-of-life among Medicare Beneficiaries with dementia. *JAMA Network Open*, *5*(6), e2216260. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2022.16260

Session 8: Approaches to Participatory Research and Diverse Recruitment and Retention in Dementia Care Research

Unique Identity Challenges for the Recruitment of American Indian/Alaska Native caregivers into Dementia Care Research

Jordan P. Lewis, PhD, University of Minnesota

- Hossain, M. Z., & Khan, H. T. A. (2020). Barriers to access and ways to improve dementia services for a minority ethnic group in England. *Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice*, 26(6), 1629–1637. https://doi.org/10.1111/jep.13361
- Kenning, C., Daker-White, G., Blakemore, A., Panagioti, M., & Waheed, W. (2017). Barriers and facilitators in accessing dementia care by ethnic minority groups: A meta-synthesis of qualitative studies. *BMC Psychiatry*, *17*(1), 316. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-017-1474-0

Insights to Engaging and Recruiting Vietnamese Americans in Dementia Caregiving Research Van Ta Park, PhD, University of California, San Francisco

- Alzheimer's Association. (n.d.). *Asian Americans and Pacific Islanders and Alzheimer's*. https://www.alz.org/help-support/resources/asian-americans-and-alzheimers
- Ta Park, V. M., Ly, Q., von Oppenfeld, J., Lee, Y., Joo, Y., Shin, H.-W., Rhee, Y., & Park, L. G. (2023). A scoping review of dementia caregiving for Korean Americans and recommendations for future research. *Clinical Gerontologist*, *46*(2), 223–239. https://doi.org/10.1080/07317115.2022.2133907
- Ta Park, V., Nguyen, K., Tran, Y., Yeo, G., Tiet, Q., Suen, J., & Gallagher-Thompson, D. (2018). Perspectives and Insights from Vietnamese American Mental Health Professionals on How to Culturally Tailor a Vietnamese Dementia Caregiving Program. *Clinical Gerontologist*, 41(3), 184–199. https://doi.org/10.1080/07317115.2018.1432734
- Ta Park, V. M., Ton, V., Tiet, Q. Q., Vuong, Q., Yeo, G., & Gallagher-Thompson, D. (2019). Promising results from a pilot study to reduce distress in Vietnamese American dementia and memory loss caregivers. *Alzheimer's & Dementia: The Journal of the Alzheimer's Association*, 5, 319–327. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trci.2019.05.006
- Ta Park, V. M., Ton, V., Yeo, G., Tiet, Q. Q., Vuong, Q., & Gallagher-Thompson, D. (2019). Vietnamese American dementia caregivers' perceptions and experiences of a culturally tailored, evidence-based program to reduce stress and depression. *Journal of Gerontological Nursing*, 45(9), 39–50. https://doi.org/10.3928/00989134-20190813-05

Community Relationships Are Critical for the Recruitment of African American Families in Dementia Care Research

Fayron Epps, PhD, RN, Emory University

Barrett, N. J., Ingraham, K. L., Vann Hawkins, T., & Moorman, P. G. (2017). Engaging African Americans in research: The recruiter's perspective. *Ethnicity & Disease*, *27*(4), 453–462. https://doi.org/10.18865/ed.27.4.453